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Providing an affordable, integrated, safe, responsive and 

sustainable transport system is key to the transformation of 

the New Zealand economy.

The Ministry of Transport seeks to collaborate with the entire 

transport sector to ensure this country has a transport system all 

New Zealanders can access, use and trust. We see our role as 

providing leadership in the transport sector including assisting 

economic development, assisting safety and personal security, 

improving access and mobility, protecting and promoting 

public health, and ensuring environmental sustainability.

The 2005/06 fi nancial year saw some signifi cant progress 

towards those goals. 

On the international front, an air services arrangement 

negotiated with Russia opened up the Siberian skies for 

a new daily Air New Zealand service over Russia to London 

via Hong Kong. 

These arrangements bring to a successful conclusion many 

years of negotiation by the Ministry with offi cials from the 

United Kingdom, the European Commission and Hong Kong 

to secure the necessary opportunities for additional fl ights 

between New Zealand and the United Kingdom.

In February, the Ministry led a tripartite government, 

employer and worker delegation to the 94th (Maritime) 

session of the International Labour Conference of the 

International Labour Organization (ILO). The Conference 

adopted the Maritime Labour Convention 2006 to update 

and consolidate some 60 individual maritime labour 

instruments. Adoption of the consolidated Convention was a 

major success for the ILO and represents the culmination of 

fi ve years' preparatory work by the Organization.

MESSAGE FROM THE SECRETARY

The Ministry undertook a review of Maritime New Zealand 

(Maritime NZ) to identify funding arrangements which 

would help provide a level of medium-term funding 

suffi cient to ensure Maritime NZ is able to fulfi l its statutory 

objectives effi ciently and effectively. 

Another area of major work for the Ministry involved 

investigating the potential for road pricing schemes and 

parking levies to reduce congestion and raise revenue for 

transport initiatives. 

In 2004, the Government commissioned a review called the 

Auckland Road Pricing Evaluation Study. The information 

from that review helped inform a body of work led by the 

Ministry to identify the nature of the problem of traffi c 

congestion in Auckland. The next step will be for the 

Government to review the information collected along 

with stakeholder feedback so informed policy decisions 

can be made. 

A signifi cant area of concern for the Ministry is road safety. 

The Government has an agreed plan called Road Safety to 

2010. The goal is that by 2010 the annual road toll will be no 

more than 300 deaths and 4,500 hospitalisations. The road 

toll for 2005/06 was 363 deaths to 30 June. Whilst this was 

the lowest fi gure for a fi nancial year (since reliable record-

keeping began in 1965/66), we clearly wish to further 

improve this result over coming years.

Two of the issues the Ministry recognised in trying to 

achieve the road safety goal was the need for improved 

coordination between those involved in road safety and 

better community buy-in. Consequently, we set up a State 

Highway Network Safety Coordination (NSC) project 

with the primary goal of reducing the crash rate on state 

highways. The project covers everything from engineering 

to enforcement and education. 

Around fi fty road corridors requiring work have been 

identifi ed by analysing crash data, and identifying issues 

such as travelling too fast for road conditions. By working 

with communities, action plans have so far been developed 

detailing the engineering, enforcement and education 

initiatives for more than twenty of these road corridors. 

The Ministry also led a Review of the Older Driver Licensing 

Policy, jointly initiated by the Minister of Transport and the 

Ministers for Transport Safety and Senior Citizens. 
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The review involved consultation with more than 20 

stakeholder groups, including Age Concern and Grey Power, 

and the Royal New Zealand College of General Practitioners. 

It brings to an end compulsory age-based on-road driver 

licence testing for people over 80 years.

Three other signifi cant events were noteworthy for the 

fi nancial year 2005/06. Firstly, after nearly fi fteen years in 

Waring Taylor Street, the Ministry’s Wellington offi ces were 

moved to Novell House at 89 The Terrace. This brought to 

an end the need to have our staff in two different buildings 

on either side of the street. 

The second major event was the retirement of the Secretary 

for Transport, Dr Robin Dunlop. Robin became Secretary for 

Transport in February 2004, at a particularly challenging time 

for the New Zealand transport sector.

Robin oversaw the completion of the Government’s 

Transport Sector Review, a process that resulted in the 

disestablishment of the Land Transport Safety Authority and 

Transfund. It also created signifi cant changes in the Ministry 

of Transport: staff numbers increased with the transfer of 

policy functions into the Ministry – hence another reason to 

shift premises. 

During Robin’s tenure, considerable progress was made 

in delivering the New Zealand Transport Strategy (NZTS) 

outcome of improved collaboration between all transport 

entities in respect of administrative systems, policy and 

legislative development.

One example of this was the Transport Sector Strategic 

Directions document, which shows how the restructured 

government transport sector is embracing the new 

collaborative approach to planning and coordinating the 

implementation of the NZTS. 

Robin had 34 years in both government and the transport 

sector and I thank him for his huge contribution, nationally 

and internationally.

The Ministry also had a year where it served four different 

Ministers of Transport. In chronological order they included 

Minister Pete Hodgson, Minister David Parker, Minister 

Hodgson (interim) and Minister Annette King, as well 

as the Minister for Transport Safety Harry Duynhoven 

and Associate Minister of Transport Judith Tizard. Each 

has contributed wisdom and skills to the Ministry’s 

development, and the New Zealand transport sector. 
I acknowledge their contribution and leadership.

Looking forward, the Ministry has a substantial work 
programme to implement in conjunction with the transport 
entities. This work programme covers many aspects of 
New Zealand transport including aviation, maritime, land 
transport by private and commercial car and truck, as well as 
passenger land transport. 

In particular, there will be an emphasis on Auckland which, 
if it is to be a world class city, needs to have an integrated, 
effi cient and modern transport system. This requires 
substantial investment, planning and cooperation between 
the transport sector and local government. It also requires 
the support and understanding of all New Zealanders, 
in order for Auckland to play its part in both the national 
and international economy.

Another key area of policy for the New Zealand transport 
sector is the twin issues of peak oil and climate change policy. 
At the time of preparing this Annual Report the Government 
is carrying out a comprehensive review of climate change 
policies for New Zealand. We will be an active contributor to 
policy development on these important issues.

In relation to infrastructure, over the next fi ve years the 
transport sector will receive an extra $1.3 billion of funding. 
This brings the total spend on transport to $13.4 billion over 
fi ve years. Excellent leadership at all levels will be critical to 
ensure that funding is used wisely and effectively.

A further key challenge for 2006/07 will be to commence 
the process of developing a new or revised New Zealand 
transport strategy so that we have a clear framework for 
transport beyond the current target year of 2010.

As the new Secretary for Transport, I am pleased to have 
come into a Ministry that has such a solid base from which 
to build on as it works with the transport Crown entities 
to deliver the New Zealand Transport Strategy. 

I look forward to working towards an improved 
transport future.

Alan Thompson, Secretary for Transport
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5 5 OUR PURPOSE 

The Ministry of Transport is the Government’s principal transport policy advisor. The Ministry leads and develops 

transport policy within the framework of the New Zealand Transport Strategy (NZTS).

The NZTS outlines the Government’s vision for transport in 
New Zealand and describes how the transport system can 
respond to the social, economic and environmental needs of 
the nation. In taking a holistic view of the transport system, 
the NZTS recognises that while roads are the main focus of 
government land transport expenditure, there is a need to 
consider all transport options, including walking, cycling and 
public transport.

The NZTS guides decision-making on transport by central 
government agencies and provides a reference for local 
government, business and communities. The services 
or ‘outputs’ that are provided by the Ministry, such as 
policy advice or revenue management, contribute to the 
achievement of the NZTS. The linkages and connections 
between the NZTS vision and the outputs produced by the 
Ministry are illustrated in the diagram below.

Ministry Outcomes Framework

5

New Zealand Transport Strategy – Government’s vision for transport: 

By 2010 New Zealand will have an affordable, integrated, safe, responsive and sustainable transport system.

NZTS Objectives

• Assisting economic development

• Assisting safety and personal security

• Improved access and mobility

• Protecting and promoting public health

• Ensuring environmental sustainability

Transport Sector Outcomes

• The transport system supports sustainable national and regional economic development

• The transport system is made safer and more secure

• The transport system is inclusive, accessible and affordable to all users

• The transport system contributes to positive health outcomes

• Transport uses land, energy and other resources effectively

 

Ministry's Strategic Priorities

• Improving the effectiveness of the land transport system

• Reducing transport-related deaths and injuries

• Enhancing aviation and maritime security

• Developing a framework for improving access and mobility

• Leading the development of integrated responses to minimise transport's impacts 

on public health and the environment

• Enhancing the effectiveness of international transport

• Improving the government transport sector's ability to deliver the NZTS

 

Ministry Outputs

• Policy Advice

• Motor Vehicle Register and Revenue Management

• Airport Operation and Administration 

• Sector Leadership and Support

• Distress Radio Beacons National Education Campaign
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OUR FUNCTIONS

The Ministry of Transport develops and provides transport policy advice for the Government based upon the need 

to be consistent with, and fulfi l, the vision and objectives of the New Zealand Transport Strategy (NZTS).

The Ministry also assists the Minister of Transport in the 

development and adoption of legislation by Parliament, 

drafting regulations and rules in association with the 

transport Crown entities, and representing New Zealand's 

transport interests internationally.

The Ministry has an important role coordinating the work 

of Crown entities in the transport sector, acting as an agent 

for the Minister of Transport. These Crown entities and their 

functions include:

• Aviation Security Service
Provides airport security, passenger and baggage 
screening.

• Civil Aviation Authority
Establishes and monitors civil aviation safety and security 
standards, carries out air accident and incident 
investigations, and promotes aviation safety.

• Land Transport New Zealand
Allocates funding for the maintenance and development 

Ministry of Transport

Aviation 

Security 

Service

Civil 

Aviation 

Authority

Land 

Transport 

New Zealand

Maritime 

New Zealand

Transit 

New Zealand

Transport 

Accident 

Investigation 

Commission

Minister of Transport

    Minister for Transport Safety           Associate Minister of Transport
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of state highways, local roads, passenger transport, 

traffi c demand management, rail, regional development, 

and the promotion of walking and cycling. It promotes 

land transport safety and regulates commercial land 

transport operators. Land Transport New Zealand are 

also agents for the the driver licensing system and 

operate the motor vehicle registration system on behalf 

of the Ministry.

• Maritime New Zealand

Regulates the maritime industry, promotes safety, 

manages ship and port security, investigates accidents, 

provides navigational aids, undertakes marine pollution 

prevention and clean-up. Maritime NZ also operates the 

New Zealand Rescue Coordination Centre, coordinating 

rescue services throughout New Zealand and the 

South Pacifi c.

• Transit New Zealand

Operates New Zealand’s state highway network, including 

planning, construction, maintenance, safety and traffi c 

management. Transit New Zealand has responsibility for 

state highway strategies and design guidelines, economic 

and environmental planning for state highways, technical 

standards and quality assurance systems.

• Transport Accident Investigation Commission

Investigates signifi cant air, maritime and rail accidents 

and incidents to determine their cause and circumstances 

with a view to avoiding similar occurrences in future.

The Ministry also works with three state-owned enterprises 
with transport functions, and the Road Safety Trust:

• Airways Corporation of New Zealand Limited
Provides airport and en route air traffi c management 
services in New Zealand, and en route services within 
the 26 million square kilometres of international oceanic 
airspace allocated to New Zealand's management by 
the International Civil Aviation Organization.

• Meteorological Service of New Zealand Limited
Provides public weather forecasting services and supplies 
the Civil Aviation Authority with meteorological information 
for international air navigation. 

• ONTRACK

Manages Crown railway land and the national rail 

network. Legislation is currently before Parliament 

to transform ONTRACK into a Crown entity, similar 

to Transit New Zealand.

• Road Safety Trust

This Crown-established trust provides funding for road 

safety projects and research, from revenue received 

from the sale of personalised vehicle registration plates. 

The Ministry provides comment to the Minister of Transport 

on the Statements of Intent of the transport Crown entities 

and negotiates an annual performance agreement with each 

entity (except the Road Safety Trust, which operates under 

a trust deed). The Ministry monitors the performance of the 

Crown entities against these documents, and reports to the 

Minister. It also recommends appointments to the governing 

bodies of the entities.

The Ministry coordinates the development of the annual 

New Zealand Road Safety Programme (Safety Administration 

Programme), in consultation with communities, local 

authorities, Land Transport New Zealand, Transit New Zealand 

and the New Zealand Police. 

While the Ministry is primarily a policy and monitoring agency, 

it is responsible for some operational functions, including:

• Maintaining the Motor Vehicle Register.

• Collecting motor vehicle registration and licensing fees, 

road user charges and fuel excise duty.

• Licensing all international airlines operating to and from 

New Zealand.

• Operating the Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome.

• Overseeing the Crown’s interest in joint venture airports. 

• Administering a contract with the Meteorological Service 

of New Zealand Ltd for the provision of public weather 

warnings and forecasts.

The Ministry works closely with local government. Local 

authorities own, maintain and develop New Zealand’s local 

road network and perform important regulatory transport 

functions. Regional councils and unitary authorities are 

required to develop regional land transport strategies that 

guide the transport decision-making of local councils, and 

also fund public transport and Total Mobility schemes 

in conjunction with Land Transport New Zealand. In the 

Auckland region, the Auckland Regional Transport Authority 

carries out these functions. Some local authorities own 

seaports and airports, or share ownership with the Crown.
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OUR ORGANISATION

Who we are: The structure of the Ministry is organised around key output areas aligned 

with the objectives of the New Zealand Transport Strategy.

Secretary for Transport   

1.  Alan Thompson (from July 2006)

Deputy Secretary – Access and Services 

2.   John Bradbury
 –  Transport services for people and business
 –  Personal access and mobility
 –  Walking and cycling
 –  Travel demand management
 –  International air services regulation

Group Manager – Strategic Directions
3.   John Allard
 – Provide leadership in sector strategic thinking
 –  Ministry strategic business planning
 –  Research and analysis
 –  Strategic monitoring 

Group Manager – Finance and Support Services

 4 .  Claire Johnstone 
 –  Support services
 –  Vote: Transport fi nancial management

–  Ministerial services
 –  Legal and communications

Group Manager – Environment  

5.  David Crawford
 –  Climate change and sustainable energy
 –  Vehicle technology and fuels
 –  Air quality
 –  Stormwater contamination
 –  Noise
 –  Pollution control

Group Manager – Agency Relations 

6. Caroline Taylor
 –  Transport Crown entity relationships
 –  Monitoring transport Crown entity 

 performance
 –  Board appointments
 –  Contract management 
 –  Regional offi ces

Group Manager – Infrastructure  

7.  Elizabeth Anderson
 –  Revenue collection and management
 –  Funding and planning of land transport
 –  Airports, ports and rail governance and 

 management arrangements

Group Manager – Safety and Security

8. Bruce Johnson
 –  Modal safety policy

–  Modal security policy
 –  Safety strategies funding
 –  Transport rules
 –  Search and rescue

Principal Legal Adviser   

9.  Hilary Talbot
 –  Legal overview

Manager – Finance  and Audit  

10. David Pearson
 –  Vote: Transport fi nancial management
 –  Internal audit

 –  Financial management services

1. 2. 3. 4.  5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 10.
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Our Values:

Integrity: 
Behaving fairly, professionally, consistently, 
and demonstrating confi dence in one another
– We demonstrate best intentions
– We are honest
– We do what we say

Communication: 
Listening, sharing and informing
– We seek and share information
– We listen actively
– We communicate clearly and constructively

People Matter: 
Playing our part in creating a great workplace
– We support and develop our people
– We respect each other
– We support a work/life balance
– We recognise and celebrate positive contribution

Leadership: 
Providing positive leadership
– We inspire and unite people
– We set clear standards and expectations
– We embrace responsibility and innovation

Positive Relationships: 
Working constructively with others to produce leading 
transport solutions
– We seek and value the views of others
– We work together to create great solutions
– We respect each other’s time

Effective Action: 
Taking responsibility for our actions
– We plan and prioritise
– We deliver quality
– We learn from mistakes and successes

OUR VISION AND VALUES

The Ministry is guided in the execution of its roles and responsibilities by its vision and values.

Our vision: Leading transport solutions for New Zealand

Values

Integrity Communication People Matter Leadership Positive 

Relationships

Effective 

Action
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Our Story #1: 

Fuelsaver saves motorists money 

OUR STORY

The following series of stories profi le how the Ministry approaches research and information gathering, strategic 

planning, policy development, drafting legislation, negotiating agreement, strategy preparation, developing 

national standards, and problem solving across a broad cross-section of areas. With some of the stories, an 

external organisation was asked to comment on how they found the experience of working with the Ministry.
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What stakeholders say about the process 
and outcome:

“Completion of the Fuelsaver website was a 
signifi cant achievement for three government 
agencies with a shared interest in sustainable 
transport – the Ministry of Transport, Land Transport 
NZ and EECA. Our combined resources have 
delivered an excellent product that will enable 
people to make informed choices about the fuel 
effi ciency and running costs of their vehicles.” 

Heather Staley, Chief Executive Offi cer
Energy Effi ciency and Conservation Authority

At a time of escalating petrol prices and global climate 

change, an innovative new Government website is giving 

vehicle purchasers the information needed to buy the 

vehicle best suited for their budget and the environment.

The Fuelsaver website, www.fuelsaver.govt.nz, helps 

consumers make wise choices when purchasing vehicles.

The Ministry of Transport developed the Fuelsaver website 

in partnership with Land Transport New Zealand (Land 

Transport NZ) and the Energy Effi ciency and Conservation 

Authority (EECA). The Ministry and these Crown agencies 

all have an interest in raising awareness of fuel effi ciency and 

the impact of vehicles on the environment.

The key elements of the website are:

• Fuel cost calculator – calculates annual fuel costs based 

upon vehicle model, the price of fuel per litre, users’ 

driving style and kilometres travelled each year.

• Vehicle comparisons – compare one vehicle’s fuel 

consumption to another.

• Fuel saving driving tips – for example reducing fuel 

consumption by keeping tyres correctly infl ated, regularly 

tuning the vehicle and not using the air conditioning.

The site also provides information about the fuel 

consumption of vehicles manufactured since January 2000 

and imported into New Zealand from Japan since 2005. 

Vehicle makes and models include cars, 4WDs, SUVs, 

vans and utility vehicles up to 3.5 tonnes.

David Crawford, the Ministry’s Group Manager for 

Environment, said purchasing more fuel-effi cient vehicles 

benefi ts the environment and improves the quality of the air 

we breathe. 

“Vehicles using less fuel emit fewer greenhouse gases and 

toxic exhaust emissions which contribute to climate change. 

It also leads to improved air quality, especially in our cities.”

Within 24 hours of being launched the Fuelsaver website 

had received 7,000 visits from vehicle owners, buyers, 

retailers, manufacturers, commercial fl eet operators and 

motoring, conservation and media organisations.

The Fuelsaver website contributes to the Ministry’s work 
in delivering the New Zealand Transport Strategy, and 
the work of EECA. It is the fi rst vehicle fuel consumption 
comparison website of its kind in New Zealand.

At the end of June 2006, having successfully launched 
and established the website, the Ministry transferred 
management of the site to Land Transport NZ.
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Our Story #2: 

Changes to state highway funding and planning 
fi nd favour

Changes to the funding and planning regime for state 
highway construction, announced in May 2006, will provide 
greater certainty for local government, the construction 
industry, road users and the community. 

John Edwards from the Ministry of Transport said the 
Government, through the New Zealand Transport Strategy 
(NZTS), is committed to delivering an affordable, integrated, 
safe, responsive and sustainable transport system that 
supports economic transformation.

“To support its commitment, the Government increased the 
funding available so that investment in the land transport 
system is now more than $2 billion per annum.”

Determined to provide greater certainty for local 
government, the road construction industry, road users and 
the community, the Government directed the Ministry of 
Transport to work with the Treasury to advise the Ministers 
on a new approach to funding and planning. 

John said land transport funding and planning used to 
have an annual focus with improvements to state highways 
funded on a year-to-year basis.

“Fluctuations in revenue from excise taxes and road user 
charges and increasing project costs were contributing to 
start dates of proposed projects moving from year-to-year, 
creating public frustration and disappointment.”
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A particular challenge of the project was reconciling the 
annual processes embodied in the requirements of the Land 
Transport Management Act 2003 with the need for longer 
timeframes to provide greater certainty for the other state 
highway stakeholders. 

John said the Government decided on a system whereby 
Transit New Zealand will prepare a multi-year state highway 
plan (six years), and the Government will provide a revenue 
and cost guarantee for the state highway projects in Transit 
New Zealand’s plan. 

“This system will provide certainty for stakeholders, and make 
government funding less vulnerable to the fl uctuations of 
revenue from excise and road user charges.”

The Government also announced a new funding package 
for a multi-year programme of state highway construction, 
local road construction, public transport services and road 
network maintenance.

Following the Government’s announcements, the Ministry 
has convened a project team including joint sponsor the 
Treasury, Land Transport New Zealand (as the funding 
agency) and Transit New Zealand (as the state highway 
manager).

John said the team is now looking at the detail of putting 
the new funding and planning system into place. Issues to 
consider and resolve include:
•  how the funding guarantees system will work;
•  what changes to monitoring and reporting 

processes are required; and
•  how to update the plan every three years (to 

link in with the local government Long-Term Council 
Community Plans that are updated tri-annually).

Resolving the planning and funding issues around state 
highway construction required the Ministry to use its 
effective relationships with the Treasury and transport 
Crown entities, and work collaboratively with them to 
develop a system that will provide construction and funding 
certainty for the Government and stakeholders.

What stakeholders say about the process and 
outcome:

“The commitment to multi-year planning and six-year 
funding certainty is a signifi cant step forward. 

“Previously, annual changes to Transit New Zealand's 
ten-year forecasts meant they were effectively only 
one-year plans. This 'on again off again' process not 
only caused public frustration and disappointment, 
but substantially increased contractor risk and drove 
up costs. 

“A committed fully-funded six-year programme 
provides the private sector with the confi dence 
to increase capacity to deliver the projects on time 
and on budget. 

“The next step is to ensure decision-making 
processes, planning approvals and consents are also 
aligned to match the funding coming through.”

Stephen Selwood, Chief Executive
New Zealand Council for Infrastructure 

Development
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Our Story #3: 

No stops for high-fl ying agreement with Russia

14 14 

Innovative air services arrangements negotiated with Russia 

have opened up the Central Asian skies for an extra daily 

Air New Zealand fl ight to London via Hong Kong and 

possible further services beyond East Asia to Europe. 

These arrangements bring to a successful conclusion many 

years of negotiations by the Ministry of Transport on behalf 

of the New Zealand Government with the United Kingdom, 

the European Commission and Hong Kong to secure the 

necessary opportunities for additional Air New Zealand 

fl ights between New Zealand and the United Kingdom.

John Macilree, the Ministry’s Principal Adviser, Air Services, 
who led the New Zealand delegation in the negotiations 
with Russia, said that while the arrangements are unlikely 
to increase passenger numbers between Russia and 
New Zealand, the over-fl ight rights obtained were essential 
to enabling Air New Zealand to offer greater choice 
to travellers.

“For many consumers the choice of route and stopover is a 
critical factor in their travel decisions. 
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A Hong Kong stopover will enable Air New Zealand to 
compete more effectively with foreign carriers for the British 
visitor market worth an estimated $1 billion to New Zealand 
annually in visitor spending.“

New Zealand had previously held successful air services 
negotiations with the Russian Government which led to an 
Air Services Agreement signed in 1993.

For the recent negotiations to secure over-fl ight rights, the 
Ministry assembled a negotiating team consisting of two 
staff from the Ministry and a diplomat from the Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs and Trade (MFAT), advised by two managers 
from Air New Zealand. The Ministry was able to build on 
existing positive relationships with both Air New Zealand 
and MFAT, ensuring comprehensive research, sharing of 
information and preparation of briefi ng papers occurred 
before the negotiating team met in Moscow in May 2006.

What’s been negotiated with Russia?

Air Services Agreements and associated Memoranda 
of Understanding are inter-Government arangements that 
set out the rights that airlines from each country have to 
operate services to the other country. Governments sign 
agreements because countries have sovereignty over 
the airspace above them and control landing rights. 

The air services arrangements with Russia provide 
rights for the national carriers of both nations (notably 
Air New Zealand and Aerofl ot) to:
• fl y through each nation’s airspace (essential for 

Air New Zealand’s Hong Kong – London services);
• operate to and beyond each other’s territory; and
• code-share on third-country airlines' fl ights (for 

example, Air New Zealand on its Star Alliance partner 
airlines provided that they too have these rights).

It seems unlikely in the short term that either country 
will take up the landing rights. As the Russian economy 
grows increasingly wealthy, however, from sales of oil 
and gas, airlines from both nations may want to explore 
opportunities for developing air services. The new 
arrangements could be the catalyst for future closer 
economic and tourism ties between New Zealand 
and Russia.

Discussions took place between government offi cials, 
and also between representatives from Aerofl ot 
and Air New Zealand. In two days of negotiations the 
New Zealand and Russian delegations were able to reach 
an understanding at the government level, as were the 
national airlines at the commercial level. 

The proposed arrangements went to the New Zealand 
Cabinet on 26 June 2006, and came into force on 21 July 
2006, after the Russian Government was notifi ed of the 
Cabinet decision.

John said the agreement enhances the effectiveness of 
international transport, one of the Ministry’s key strategic 
priorities, by providing New Zealanders travelling abroad 
and European visitors to New Zealand with more choice 
of fl ights and routes.

What stakeholders say about the process 
and outcome:

"For Air New Zealand, the doubling of services to 
London is a major part of the strategy to better serve 
New Zealand’s air transport needs and promote 
New Zealand as a tourism destination. The work of the 
Ministry of Transport, in preparing for and negotiating 
with Russia, secured the fi nal piece in the traffi c rights 
jigsaw puzzle that was necessary before commencement 
of the new London via Hong Kong service. It was 
particularly pleasing to have the necessary over-fl ight 
rights secured from Russia in addition to securing 
opportunities for future additional fl ights. This has 
enabled the company to plan for future expansion with 
greater certainty.”

Rob Fyfe, Chief Executive
Air New Zealand
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Our Story #4: 

Engineering, enforcement and education 
for road safety 

16 16 

Transport network safety is a top priority for both central 
and local government. Until recently, however, there wasn’t 
a consistent national approach to ensuring the best use of 
available resources to improve the ‘black routes’ on the 
highways.

The Ministry of Transport recognised that one of the issues 
was a lack of coordination. In January 2005 the Ministry set 
up a State Highway Network Safety Coordination (NSC) 
project with the primary goal of reducing the crash rate 
on state highways. The project covers everything from 
engineering to enforcement and education.

Though responsibility for improving road safety was 
devolved regionally, the Ministry of Transport took the 
initiative of bringing together representatives from both 
national and regional offi ces of the New Zealand Police, 

Transit New Zealand, Land Transport New Zealand, the 
Accident Compensation Corporation and local government 
to consider how to better coordinate the work of improving 
road safety.

Each government organisation is providing guidance and 
support to the regional teams through the Network Safety 
Coordination Group (NSCG). The NSCG meets monthly to 
monitor progress, share results from around the 
country and assist with removing barriers to regional 
action where possible.

Responsibility for implementing road safety initiatives 
remains at the regional level, but is being managed 
by regional teams created for each of New Zealand’s 
seven Transit New Zealand regions. Each team includes 
representatives from the New Zealand Police, Land 
Transport New Zealand, Transit New Zealand, local 
government and other agencies.
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These regional teams have been given the tasks of:
•  identifying the worst corridors or ‘black routes’ in 

their regions;
•  using the best combination of engineering 

(roading improvements), enforcement (Police vehicles 
on patrol), and education (such as advertising, publicity, 
billboards etc);

•  making the best use of existing combined 
resources of road safety partners; and 

•  developing intervention plans that will deliver 
results.

The regional teams have already identifi ed around fi fty 
road corridors that require work. The regional teams have 
analysed crash data on these corridors and then identifi ed 
the problems, for example cars travelling too fast for 
road conditions. Action plans detailing the engineering, 
enforcement and education initiatives required have already 
been developed and are being implemented for at least 
twenty of these road corridors.

Though these projects are in their early stages, feedback 
from the road safety partners is very supportive of the 
increased coordination and communication that has 
occurred as a result of this initiative. 

Signifi cantly, the coordinated approach to improving 
road safety is gaining support from stakeholders around 
the regions. Transport organisations, such as the Road 
Transport Association in Canterbury, have begun 
contributing to programmes being undertaken by regional 
teams to improve road safety. The Ministry’s initiative, 
and stakeholders’ support for the coordinated approach, 
will contribute towards achieving the New Zealand 
Transport Strategy’s goal of reducing transport-related 
deaths and injuries. 

What stakeholders say about the process 
and outcome:

“From the Police perspective it's very good to have 
the Ministry coordinate a lot of these activities and 
maintain an overall view of the process. The Network 
Safety Coordination process is, on the whole, very 
good. It ensures that different agencies work closely 
together on projects for mutual advantages and 
ensures that the Road Safety Action planning process 
has some real bite in road safety.”

John Kelly, Superintendant
New Zealand Police

“Transit New Zealand has found the Network Safety 
Coordination project to be a most useful initiative. 
In areas where Transit staff did not have strong 
relationships with key partners such as the Police it 
has encouraged them to develop stronger and more 
effi cient relationships. Working with the Ministry on 
this particular project has been a pleasant experience 
as the key Ministry staff have shown commitment 
to data-based safety initiatives and programme 
management.”

Ray Cook, National Safety Engineer
Transit New Zealand
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Our Story #5: 

A mature approach to older driver licensing 

Re-sitting a driver licence can be very stressful for older 
people. That will soon change for most of the 57,400 drivers 
aged 80 and over, thanks to a change to Older Driver 
Licensing Rules led by the Ministry of Transport.

Under changes to older driver legislation being introduced 
on 4 December 2006, compulsory on-road testing will no 
longer be required for drivers aged 80 and over.

The new Rules have come about as a result of the Ministry 
of Transport responding to concerns raised by stakeholder 
groups about the changes to older driver licensing 
introduced in 1999. This previous rule change introduced 

a more challenging compulsory on-road driving test for 

drivers aged 80 and over, administered by private testing 

offi cers. Older stakeholder groups, including Grey Power, 

claimed the Rules were discriminatory, and placed additional 

stress and cost on older drivers.

The Ministry led a Review of Older Driver Licensing 

Policy, jointly initiated by the Minister of Transport and the 

Ministers for Transport Safety and Senior Citizens. The 

review involved consultation with more than 20 stakeholder 

groups, including Age Concern, Grey Power, the Royal 

New Zealand College of General Practitioners, the Insurance 
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Council and the Automobile Association. Throughout the 
review process, a key challenge for the Ministry was to 
apply the objectives of the New Zealand Transport Strategy 
(NZTS) to ensure a solution could be achieved that balanced 
the NZTS objectives of maintaining safety and security 
on the roads, with improving the access and mobility of 
older persons. 

Review Project Manager, David Weinstein, said that one 
of the key factors infl uencing the review was evidence that 
those countries or jurisdictions that did not road test older 
drivers had similar crash rates to New Zealand. 

“Compulsory on-road testing was not shown to make any 
signifi cant difference to older driver safety. By working 
closely with stakeholders, the Ministry was able to build 
a strong consensus of support for a change of emphasis 
away from on-road testing, as the way to ensure driver 
safety, towards greater reliance on medical assessment 
and increased education and training for older drivers.”

Under the new approach, most drivers aged 80 and over 
will not be required to sit the on-road driving test. They 
will renew their licence with a medical certifi cate from their 
doctor, reducing their stress and the costs of relicensing, 
and making it easier for them to retain their mobility for as 
long as possible. Older drivers are encouraged to attend 
the popular and free Safe with Age classroom-based 
road safety courses, which will be expanded signifi cantly. 
Graduates of Safe with Age will have the added incentive 
of a $30 voucher to undertake an on-road driving and 
coaching session with an approved professional private 
driving instructor.

This outcome demonstrates how engaging with 
stakeholders enabled the Ministry to deliver a solution 
that achieves the objectives of the NZTS, and to reach 
a popular consensus for change.

Key aspects of the new licensing rules for 
mature drivers

On 4 December 2006, the Land Transport (Driver 
Licensing) Amendment Rule (No. 2) 2006 will come 
into effect. Under this new Rule, drivers when they 
reach the ages of 75, 80 and two-yearly thereafter will 
still be required to have a medical certifi cate for 
Driver Licence as at present. 
The key changes are:
• Drivers aged 80 years and over won’t be required 

to take a compulsory on-road test to relicense.
• GPs will be able to refer an older driver for an 

optional on-road safety test in certain circumstances. 
This will be for those drivers aged 75 and over 
who are medically fi t to drive, but whose doctor is 
concerned about their ability to drive safely. 

• The popular, classroom-based road safety course 
Safe with Age will be expanded to cater for more 
older drivers.

• A new government $30 voucher will be given to Safe 
with Age graduates who want to further improve 
their driving skills with a private on-road lesson.

What stakeholders say about the process 
and outcome:

“As a consumer representative on the Stakeholder 
Consultative Group for the Review of Older Driver 
Licensing Policy, we were grateful for the opportunity 
to work with the Ministry offi cials and the other 
members of the committee on this project. It is our 
view that the Ministry gave excellent leadership to the 
project with the result that a satisfactory conclusion 
was reached for all participants.” 

Graham Stairmand, National President
Grey Power Federation 



20 20 

Our Story #6: 

Making the seas safer for seafarers 

Our Story #6 – Ministry of Transport Annual Report 05/06

New Zealand, as a trading nation, benefi ts greatly from the 

quality and stability of the global shipping industry. While 

90 percent of world trade moves by sea, the physical volume 

of New Zealand overseas trade moving by sea is closer to 

99 percent.

In February 2006, the Ministry of Transport fronted a New 

Zealand delegation attending the 94th (Maritime) session of 

the International Labour Conference, held at the International 

Labour Organization (ILO) headquarters in Geneva.

The Conference was the culmination of fi ve years’ 

preparatory work to develop a “Bill of Rights” that provides 

a modern approach to maritime labour standard-setting 

for the world’s 1.2 million seafarers and the owners of an 

estimated 40,000 ships. What the global shipping industry 

needed were modern standards, applicable to the entire 

industry for ready adoption and effective enforcement by 

governments. 

The ILO operates on a ‘tripartite’ basis that brings together 

governments, and representatives of employers and 

workers. As the Government’s principal transport policy 

adviser, the Ministry took the lead organising New Zealand’s 

tripartite delegation of two government delegates, and one 

representative of employers and workers. 106 countries 

attended the Conference, with some 900 delegates and 

advisers participating. 

Ministry of Transport Principal Advisor, Safety and 

Security, Roger Brown, said that, after nearly three weeks 

of intense and sometimes delicately poised negotiation, 

the Conference almost unanimously adopted the 

Maritime Labour Convention 2006, which modernises 

and consolidates the 68 maritime Conventions and 

Recommendations adopted since 1920. 

“The Conference has been a great success for the ILO, 

producing a modern, credible Convention that is capable 

of widespread ratifi cation within a realistic timeframe.” 

Roger said fi rst-hand experience gained at the Conference is 
valuable for the next steps, which include:
• assessing how New Zealand’s current maritime labour 

law measures up against what is in the new Convention 
assessment; and

• establishing what changes to existing law and practice are 
necessary if New Zealand is to ratify the new Convention.

He said that for New Zealand, which is so reliant on 
international shipping, the enforcement measures in the 
Convention would provide a big improvement in the ability 
of our authorities to step in to protect the interests of 
seafarers on visiting foreign ships.

“New Zealand would be able to enhance its already strong 
contribution to regional measures to combat sub-standard 
shipping. Regional cooperation is a vital aspect of effective 
international regulation, not only of maritime labour 
standards, but also ship safety, seafarer training standards 
and marine environment protection.” 
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What stakeholders say about the process 
and outcome:

“The session debates highlighted the grave concern of 
the employee and employer representatives that the 
world needed a workable document that many more 
economies would be willing to comply with. The debates 
provided the opportunity to resolve misunderstandings 
and clarify misconceptions, and thereby produce a more 
meaningful Convention. 

“The lead role by the Ministry of Transport supported 
the New Zealand delegation and allowed it to 
fully participate in the working committees of the 
Conference.”

Paul Nicholas, Manager 
New Zealand Shipping Federation Inc
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Our Story #7: 

What cost for reducing congestion? 

Auckland’s traffi c congestion remains one of the most 

pressing transport issues in the city. This is despite the 

substantial improvements being made to the roading 

network and public transport. 

Signifi cant analysis by the Ministry of Transport shows 

congestion in Auckland by 2016 is likely to be similar to 

or worse than at present, even allowing for the substantial 

investment in roading infrastructure, public transport and 

other measures.

The culprits are the additional 39 vehicles per day being 

added to the Auckland region’s existing fl eet of 837,000 

vehicles. With Auckland’s geography, there are only 
18 roads connecting the Auckland City isthmus with the 
North Shore, Waitakere and Manukau cities low-density 
development. With a strong reliance on road transport, 
these 14,000 extra vehicles per year pose a greater 
challenge than the planned roading improvements can 
easily solve.

Chris Money, from the Ministry’s Infrastructure team, 
said in seeking solutions the question of using road pricing 
(directly charging for road use), is being considered as a 
possible mechanism for controlling congestion, or raising 
revenue for additional transport investment. 



23 23 23

“International examples of using road pricing, similar to 
London’s central city congestion charge, have shown user 
charges are an effective tool for managing congestion.”

The Government commissioned the Auckland Road Pricing 
Evaluation Study in 2004 to investigate the potential 
for road pricing schemes and parking levies to reduce 
congestion and raise revenue for transport initiatives. 

The study focused on the potential social, economic 
and environmental impacts of road pricing and parking 
charges. The study also considered the role of enhanced 
public transport, improved roading and better facilities for 
walking and cycling to address any negative social impacts. 
Schemes were also assessed against the objectives of the 
New Zealand Transport Strategy (NZTS).

Carrying out the study involved the Ministry of Transport 
chairing an Offi cials’ Steering Group, comprising 
representatives from the Treasury, the Ministries of 
Economic Development and Social Development, the 
Auckland Regional Council, Land Transport New Zealand, 
Transit New Zealand and Local Government New Zealand. 
A consortium of consultants prepared the study and 
fi nal report.

Chris said the Ministry’s role was to lead, guide and facilitate 
the study and provide technical expertise as required.

“The Ministry led the work to identify the nature of the 
problem of traffi c congestion in Auckland and used the 
objectives of the NZTS as a baseline to assess in detail road 
pricing as a possible solution. The need to balance social, 
economic, safety and environmental issues as embodied in 
the NZTS was integrated into the investigation.”

By consulting widely with stakeholders after the study 
was publicly released, the Ministry raised the levels of 
knowledge and debate around the issue and road pricing.

Feedback from the consultation process along with the 
report has now been given to the Minister of Transport for 
consideration.

What does the Auckland Road Pricing Evaluation 
Study conclude?

The purpose of the study was to explore in detail 
the potential impacts of road pricing schemes 
as a method for managing traffi c congestion. 
In particular, the Ministry was directed to assess 
all schemes against the objectives of the NZTS. 

Five schemes were considered:
• Single cordon – charging vehicles for driving across 

a cordon (inwards only).
• Double cordon – charging vehicles for crossing 

either of two cordons (inwards only).
• Area scheme – charging vehicles entering or 

driving within a defi ned area.
• Strategic network charge – charging vehicles for 

driving on motorways.
• Parking levy – charging for parking within 

defi ned areas.

The study fi ndings show that the road pricing 
schemes considered would only affect around 
20 percent of vehicle trips in Auckland. Despite this 
small percentage, the schemes considered would 
all reduce congestion, be good for the environment, 
have neutral to positive economic impacts and some 
negative social impacts for the 20 percent of vehicle 
trips affected. 

The study makes no recommendations around 
introducing road pricing in Auckland.

What stakeholders say about the process 
and outcome:

"I commend the Ministry for the rigour and vigour of 
its road pricing investigation and engagement with 
Auckland transport issues. The use of on-the-ground 
case studies and reader-friendly economic and social 
analysis generated a high degree of public interest 
and political attention which can be built on in future."

Councillor Joel Cayford, Chair 
Auckland Regional Land Transport Committee
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Our Story #8: 

Strategic directions set for transport‘s 
collective action

Our Story #8 – Ministry of Transport Annual Report 05/06

Collective action by the Government's transport sector 

entities is critical to achieving a sustainable transport sector 

– one that contributes fully to New Zealand's economic 

transformation. The publication of the fi rst Transport Sector 

Strategic Directions document (TSSD) in December 2005 

set out, for the fi rst time, a strategic framework to deliver 

the cross-agency objectives of the New Zealand Transport 

Strategy (NZTS).

The TSSD recognises that more integrated sector-wide 

planning will help reduce the real costs of transport's growth 

in a successful economy – costs such as congestion in our 

cities, the negative environmental and health impacts of 

transport, and the unacceptably high level of fatalities across 

all transport modes.

The TSSD was signed by the Minister of Transport and was 

approved by each of the transport Crown entity boards. 

To guide the development of this process, the Minister 

of Transport set up a Board Reference Group comprising 

representatives from the boards of each of the transport 

sector Crown entities and ONTRACK, as well as with 

regional government representation. The Board Reference 

Group has provided strong leadership, and its members 

have been effective advocates for this new approach to 
integrated planning within their own boards. 

The TSSD is a model of integrated planning. It is based 
on strong relationships established between the Ministry, 
Crown entities and local government, and on the value 
this cooperation delivers for the business of each transport 
sector agency. 

What stakeholders say about the process 
and outcome:

“In just over a year since the Board Reference Group 
was set up by the Minister of Transport, we have 
developed a major new cross-agency work programme. 
This will deliver real benefi ts for the transport sector. 
The leadership provided by board members from the 
transport Crown entities and from local government 
has been critical to the success of this work. I'm looking 
forward to progress continuing in the year ahead." 

Mike Williams, Chair
Board Reference Group
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What are the Transport Sector Strategic 

Directions projects?

In all, eight projects have been initiated by the Transport 
Sector Strategic Directions (TSSD) process. These are 
being managed by project teams drawn from the Ministry 
of Transport, transport Crown entities, and ONTRACK, with 
different agencies leading them to make best use of sector 
knowledge and expertise. The main projects underway are:

Strategic Transport Futures (STF) project

The NZTS sets a vision for New Zealand transport to 2010. 
Planning for a sustainable transport system requires thinking 
about decisions over a longer timeframe. The STF project 
was set up to ensure that transport sector decision-making 
is strengthened through the application of strategic thinking 
processes and the provision of new information about 
transport's future context. Government’s policies for the 
sustainable development of New Zealand transport will 
be supported.

The STF project will identify major national and international 
transport issues over the next 40 to 50 years, with a specifi c 
focus on transport sector opportunities and risks over the 
next 10 to 15 years. The fi ndings from this project, to be 
reported in December 2006, will inform current transport 
sector business planning and policy development.

Integrated Approach to Planning project

This project's aims are to produce a more systematic and 
integrated approach to transport and land-use planning 
across central and local government, business and 
community, including better and quicker resolution of 
planning issues. The project will consider all aspects of 
planning for domestic transport, including aviation and 
maritime infrastructure issues, and their interrelationship 
with land-use planning.

Research and Information project

The development of a New Zealand Transport Research 
Strategy will present an integrated programme of research 
across the transport sector. Work on the strategy began in 
2005 and is due for completion in December 2006. 

Monitoring Indicators project

A cross-agency project team is developing an integrated 
framework for monitoring the transport sector’s progress 
towards achieving the New Zealand Transport Strategy 
(NZTS). The framework will measure progress against the 
NZTS objectives, provide information to evaluate policy 
direction and identify opportunities for collaboration 
between the Ministry of Transport and transport sector 
stakeholders.

Substance Impairment project

Improving safety in the transport sector is a key outcome of 
the NZTS. A cross-sector Substance Impairment Group has 
been established to identify policy options for addressing 
drug and alcohol use in the maritime, aviation and rail 
industries, in conjunction with land transport work in this 
area. A public consultation paper will identify options for 
addressing drug and alcohol impairment.

The TSSD presents three further projects that will be 
scoped in 2006: Managing Environmental and Public Health 
Impacts, A Cross-Modal Approach to Safety, and Managing 
Demand for Transport Services.
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Our Story #9: 

Protecting our pipelines

Our Story #9 – Ministry of Transport Annual Report 05/06

For the fi rst time in more than a decade, a pipeline protected 
area has been declared by Order in Council for an offshore 
oilfi eld development (Pohokura Development) in Taranaki.

The Submarine Cables and Pipelines Protection Act 1996 
(the Act), administered by the Ministry of Transport, enables 
an area around undersea infrastructure, such as power or 
fi bre-optic cables or oil and gas pipelines, to be protected 
from damage by ships’ anchoring or fi shing operations. 

Protected areas have been introduced in the past for the 
Cook Strait power and fi bre-optic cables, and the Auckland 
international power and fi bre-optic cables. This is the fi rst 
time under the current Act that protection has been given 
to oil and gas pipelines connecting oil rigs to processing 

installations, either onshore or fl oating. The area being 
protected for the Pohokura Development is 500m to either 
side of the actual pipeline and 8.5km from an offshore 
oil rig to shore.

Paul Fistonich, from the Ministry’s Safety and Security 
Group, said there was some urgency in getting a protected 
area in place as soon as the pipeline construction was 
completed, to protect it from being damaged by fi shing 
operations or ships’ anchoring.

“The process of applying for and having a protected area 
Order declared can take some time. Coordinating the 
approval of the protected area Order with the completion of 
pipeline construction therefore requires timely attention by 
the developer and the Ministry.” 
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The Act and what it protects may be invisible to most, 
but the economy depends upon the power and fi bre-
optic cables such as: the Cook Strait cable, which links 
the North and South Islands; the Auckland international 
power and fi bre-optic cables, which link New Zealand 
with Australia and North America; and pipelines like 
Pohokura.

The Ministry, by effi ciently administering the little known 
Act to protect unseen infrastructure, helps to ensure the 
lights stay on and emails are sent and received within 
New Zealand and to the rest of the world, and that 
undersea oil and gas pipelines are not damaged 
by shipping.

What makes a little known Act so very important?

The Submarine Cables and Pipelines Protection 
Act 1996 (the Act) is one of the more obscure acts 
administered by the Ministry of Transport. Only the 
owners of submarine cables, or people unfortunate 
enough to damage them or breach the Act’s provisions, 
are likely to know about the Act. 

The Act is designed to provide protection for submarine 
cables and pipelines, and enables the Crown to 
prosecute for breaches of the protection zones. The 
Ministry conducts around one prosecution per year.

Once the Minister of Transport received the application 
for a protected area, the Ministry analysed it, publicly 
consulted on it and considered submissions. The 
Ministry advised the Minister to recommend that 
a protected area be declared by the Governor-General 
and issued drafting instructions for a protected area 
Order. When the Order received Cabinet approval, 
and the Governor-General signed the Order in Council, 
the protection area came into force 28 days later. 

“A protected area Order is usually warranted if there 
is a real risk to an undersea structure from fi shing 
operations or ships’ anchoring, and the impact of any 
potential damage is great”, said Paul.

“The consequences of damage to a pipeline could 
be vast, with not only economic development being 
affected – the platform could shut down and cease 
production – but the environmental damage and clean-
up due to underwater gas or oil leaks could affect a 
much larger area of the ocean. Pollution of fi sheries 
and beaches are all potential consequences of not 
protecting these pipelines.”

Though the Act is little known, its importance for 
protecting unseen but essential infrastructure makes it 
an important aspect of the Ministry’s work. 
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Our Story #10: 

Getting There by walking and cycling

The next phase of the Government’s 10-year strategy for 
walking and cycling, Getting there – on foot, by cycle 
(Getting There) is under way with a strategic implementation 
plan for 2006-2009. Getting There recognises the 
importance of walking and cycling, not only for recreation, 
but for everyday transport. 

Between July 2005 and February 2006, the Ministry led the 
development of an implementation plan for Getting There 
with key stakeholders like Land Transport New Zealand 
(Land Transport NZ), Transit New Zealand, walking and 
cycling advocacy groups, local government and other 
national agencies such as the Ministry of Health and the 
New Zealand Police. 

The plan sets out ten new national initiatives to be 
introduced over the next three years. New initiatives 
include the development of an information centre to bring 
together walking and cycling best practice and a series of 
council-led model transport communities.

The Ministry will also undertake other important initiatives 
such as a Getting There Transport Sector Alignment 
Review. This review seeks to maximise walk and cycle 
friendly policy and practice, and support local government 
to build on the Getting There initiatives.
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Ministry Access and Mobility Senior Adviser Jason Morgan 
said a strong focus was placed on working with local 
government.

“We recognise the importance of local experience. Local 
government representation helped the development of 
this Strategic Implementation Plan. The national initiatives 
that develop as a result of this plan will build on and 
strengthen existing work in communities. Local and regional 
collaboration is vital for the success of Getting There.” 

The Ministry’s effective engagement with key stakeholders 
has produced a strategic implementation plan that provides 
support for organisations at central, regional and local levels 
to put the Getting There strategy into effect. 

Getting the word out about cycling and walking:

Providing people with easy access to information is a 
key requirement for effecting change in community 
attitudes and behaviours. Land Transport NZ has already 
commenced work on an initiative in the Getting There 
implementation plan that specifi cally addresses this need.

The Getting There Information Centre will provide 
people with easy access to information, resources and 
advice to support walking and cycling and assist with 
implementing Getting There. The Centre will gather 
and manage information, disseminate walk and cycle 
information through many channels and provide advice 
and support to stakeholders.

Developing the Getting There Information Centre 
provides a signifi cant opportunity for partnerships 
outside the transport sector, and greater opportunities 
to spread the word about walking and cycling beyond 
the usual agencies and organisations.

What stakeholders say about the process 
and outcome:

“The development of the Information Centre is an 
excellent opportunity to provide a valuable resource to 
all interested parties involved in the area of walking and 
cycling. It will also signifi cantly support the direction 
not only of the Getting There strategy but also the 
New Zealand Transport Strategy. We look forward to 
progressing its development with key agencies and 
stakeholders in the near future along with the other 
initiatives in the plan”.

Gerry Dance, Senior Advisor, Walking & Cycling
Land Transport New Zealand

“I'm happy to be able to provide collegial support at the 
delivery of the Getting there – on foot, by cycle strategy.

I'm excited by the prospects for walking and cycling in 
New Zealand in forthcoming years. I think this strategy 
marks a watershed in the acceptance of walking and 
cycling as fundamental elements of a coherent, multi-
agency approach to allowing New Zealanders to get 
from A to B and all places in between. God gave us feet, 
man gave us bicycles – this strategy gives us the ability 
to make the best use of them.”

Brent Skinnon, Programme Director, Walking & Cycling
Health Sponsorship Council
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

As the Secretary for Transport, under sections 35 and 37 of the Public Finance Act 1989 I am responsible for the preparation 
of the Ministry’s fi nancial statements and the judgements made in the process of producing those statements.

I have demonstrated my responsibility of establishing and maintaining a system of internal control procedures that provide 
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of fi nancial reporting.

In my opinion, these fi nancial statements fairly refl ect the fi nancial position and operations of the Ministry for the year ended 
30 June 2006.

Alan Thompson
Secretary for Transport

Countersigned by:

Claire Johnstone
Group Manager – Finance and Support Services

David Pearson
Manager – Finance and Audit

27 September 2006
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Maintaining and developing capability 

The Ministry’s role requires it to work across a very broad 
range of areas covering infrastructure, safety and security, 
access and services through to climate change. We are 
mindful that we are a policy agency, not an operational 
entity, and that in order to succeed it is imperative that we 
have the staff and capabilities to provide informed advice to 
the Minister and to collaborate with the Crown entities, the 
wider transport sector and the New Zealand state sector.

A challenge for us is to provide good advice on all the issues 
we need to cover, whilst also responding swiftly to emerging 
issues and meeting changing ministerial needs.

Over the past year, we’ve continued to focus on maintaining 
and developing the Ministry of Transport’s capability to 
ensure we can provide even better support and policy 
to Ministers. Critical to this has been the emphasis we 
have placed on recruitment and retention, training and 
development, and the embedding of our values within 
the Ministry culture. While the Ministry had a slow start in 
regard to recruiting senior people at the start of the year, 
substantial improvements were made in the last quarter as 
we head towards a full staffi ng complement. Staffi ng at the 
end of the fi nancial year sat at 152 full-time staff.

Substantial investment was made across the board into 
building capability through training. Staff were given the 
opportunity to participate in programmes such as executive 
leadership, policy writing, negotiations, introduction to 
government, and team development.

We have also put in place a ‘work-life balance’ policy which 
offers employees the opportunity to take career breaks, 
encourages employees to have regular health checks and 
allows for a community volunteer work day. Employees are 
also able to attend a regular weekly early morning or lunch-
time yoga class on the premises.

We have invested in improving our environment and 
infrastructure. This ranged from moving to a new building to 
reviewing all our information technology (IT) systems.

This IT review resulted in the identifi cation of areas where 
the Ministry could benefi t from signifi cant changes to its 
operations. 

The major changes that were recommended were the 
recruitment of internal strategic management skills around IT 
and Information Management, a move from the Department 
of Internal Affairs to a commercial facilities management 
service and the centralisation of documents, records, and 
library management. We also introduced a new payroll 
system which allows staff to view their salaries and leave 
balances on-line.

A further programme of work was identifi ed to establish a 
modern, effi cient and fl exible IT environment, and funding 
has been allocated to achieve this over the next fi nancial year. 

Our personnel policies have been reviewed in the past year 
and a human resource strategy developed to ensure our 
policies refl ect the growth in the Ministry workforce. In 
particular we have made a commitment to invest in the pay 
and equity employment survey; the results of which will be 
presented in the 2006/07 year. 

Equal employment opportunities are embedded in all human 
resource strategy and planning, and all systems and practices 
are non-discriminatory. The Ministry has actively contributed 
to the New Zealand Disability Strategy. In designing our 
new premises, we ensured there were facilities for disabled 
including showers and wheelchair access. There are 
also facilities provided for breastfeeding mothers and a 
programme in place which provides fl exibility for parents 
returning to the workforce following parental leave.

The Ministry respects the individuals within its workforce 
and ensures the workplace is free of harassment or 
discrimination of any type or description. This is monitored 
through a bi-annual culture survey. We recognise the 
diverse range of employees, their backgrounds, religions 
and cultures.

We respect and embrace the principles and the Crown 
obligations under the Treaty of Waitangi and recognise the 
aims and aspirations of Ma-ori through the Ministry’s 
Me Penapena group.

MAINTAINING AND DEVELOPING CAPABILITY
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Cost-effectiveness

The Ministry also recognises the importance of ensuring 
our work programme is effectively contributing to the 
achievement of the Government’s transport objectives. 
The Ministry had not prepared any performance measures 
for the cost-effectiveness of interventions for 2005/06. 
However, during 2006/07 we will develop and implement 
a framework of performance measures and standards to 
enable the monitoring of the contribution made by our 
individual work items and policy programmes. Measures 

will include cost-effectiveness and cost-effi ciency indicators, 
where appropriate, which will be maintained on a database, 
supported by a strategic monitoring group and made 
available for audit purposes. We expect to report the fi rst 
set of data in the Ministry’s 2006/07 Annual Report.

The Ministry has experienced many challenges in the past 
year and has been able to implement many positive changes. 
The 2006/07 year will provide even more opportunity for 
improvement.
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Output class: Policy Advice

Under this output class the Minister of Transport purchased 
strategic, objective and evidence-based advice relating 
to all modes of transport to progress the achievement of 
New Zealand Transport Strategy (NZTS) objectives.

Results sought

• The transport system supports sustainable national and 
regional economic development.

• The transport system is made safer and more secure.
• The transport system is inclusive, accessible and 

affordable to all users.
• The transport system contributes to positive health 

outcomes.
• Transport uses land, energy and other resources 

effectively.

The following measures will be used to demonstrate 
progress against the desired results:
• A halt in the decline of walking and cycling as 

transport modes. 
• Improved air services opportunities secured in negotiations.
• An annual reduction in death and serious injury rates 

as measured across the road, rail, air and maritime 
transport modes.

• Improved air quality, shown in national and regional 
environmental indicators of transport effects.

• Minimised transport contributions to adverse environ-
mental effects on water ecosystems and noise.

Comment

Solid progress was made in achieving the results by which 
the Ministry measures its contributions. For example, this 
fi nancial year (2005/06) saw the publication of the fi rst 
Transport Sector Strategic Directions document setting 
out how the whole government transport sector will 
work together to enhance the achievement of the NZTS 
objectives. This is a major milestone in regard to improving 
our strategic planning ability across the sector.

The following commentary demonstrates our progress 
against results:

STATEMENT OF OBJECTIVES AND SERVICE 
PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

The Ministry of Transport had fi ve output classes in 2005/06. The extent to which the Ministry has met its 

objectives for each output class, as set out in our Statement of Intent (Parliamentary Paper F.5 pages 46-52), 

is reported below. Note: Costs listed in standards and targets 2005/06 include adjustments made in the 

Supplementary Estimates.

A halt in the decline of walking and cycling 
as transport modes 

The development of a strategic implementation plan for 
walking and cycling led to:
• Increased investment in local walking and cycling user 

networks.
• A coordinated approach to gathering and sharing walking 

and cycling best practice information.
• The visibility of walking and cycling as modes of transport 

being increased (see our “Getting There by walking, and 
cycling” story pages 28-29).

Improved air services opportunities secured in negotiations

Successful negotiation of air services opportunities included: 
• Russia: Negotiated new arrangements, notably securing 

over-fl ight rights for proposed Air New Zealand services 
to Europe via East Asia (see ‘No stops for high-fl ying 
agreement with Russia’ story, pages 14-15).

• Vanuatu: Negotiated liberalised air services arrangements 
– thus providing opportunities for Air New Zealand to 
commence services to Port Vila.

• India: Negotiated replacement Air Services Agreement 
providing opportunities for services between 
New Zealand and India. 

• Japan: Completed exchanges of letters to allow 
Air New Zealand to rationalise services including 
provisions for B777 aircraft.

An annual reduction in death and serious injury rates 
as measured across the road, rail, air and maritime 
transport modes

• The number of road fatalities for 2005/06 was 363, 
the lowest fi nancial year road death toll since records 
began in 1965/66. While the road toll continues to fall, 
the serious injury rate (hospitalisations for more than 
a day) has been harder to shift and continues to be of 
concern. This reported rise has been in part due to the 
change in the hospital admissions criteria. 

• Fatalities in the aviation sector continued a reducing trend 
(12), while fatalities in the commercial maritime sector 
have remained relatively static (9). Fatalities in the rail 
sector increased in the past year with 22 deaths. This 
trend reinforces the importance of the Ministry’s efforts to 
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introduce rail safety targets and strategies that have broad 

support across the sector. It should be noted that for rail, 

aviation and maritime the fi gures are very small and can 

fl uctuate noticeably through a single event.

• The Ministry consulted on a Rail Safety Target discussion 

paper and received 40 submissions. This work will 

contribute towards a rail safety strategy. The Ministry 

also led a working group looking at alcohol and drugs in 

the aviation, maritime and rail sectors and established 

the State Highway Network Safety Coordination (NSC) 

project to reduce the crash rate on state highways 

(see our story “Engineering, enforcement and education 

for road safety” on pages 16-17).

Fatality rates:

Mode 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06

Road

Rail

Air

Maritime (Commercial)

447

16

20

7

452

15

13

8

363

22

12

9

Improved air quality, shown in national and regional 

environmental indicators of transport effects

The Ministry undertook further work on identifying 

appropriate emission standards for both new and used 

vehicles, including analysis of environmental, economic 

and social impacts: 

• Drafting of amendments to the Land Transport Rule: 

Vehicle Exhaust Emissions 2003 has been undertaken 

to require the introduction of a visible smoke check at 

Warrant of Fitness/Certifi cate of Fitness and testing and 

to update the emission standard known as Euro 4 for 

heavy diesel vehicles. 

• Further policy investigation has been done around: 

monitoring of emissions using onboard electronic 

monitoring equipment; speeding up the evolution of the 

vehicle fl eet to remove older and high emitting vehicles; 

voluntary emission testing programmes for truck and 

bus operators; and educating drivers to reduce emissions.

• Introduction of the Fuelsaver website in May 2006 

(see our story “Fuelsaver saves motorists money”

on pages 10-11).

Minimised transport contributions to adverse environ-
mental effects on water ecosystems and noise

• An interim objective noise-testing regime was introduced 
to provide greater fl exibility to control excessively 
noisy vehicles. 

• Further work was undertaken to develop appropriate 
tools to manage land transport noise impacts along land 
transport corridors. 

Policy output: Transport Sustainability

Description:

This policy advice output involves the development and 
implementation of policy in all transport modes in consultation 
with the transport agencies to meet the overall objective of 
a sustainable transport system.

Actual 
2004/05

Performance 
Measures

Standards/
targets 
2005/06

Actual 
2005/06

100%

Quantity:

Completion of agreed work 
programme

100% 77% 

100%

87%

90%

Quality:

All policy advice will conform 
to the quality characteristics 
set out in Treasury guidelines 
for purchasing policy advice

Percentage of Cabinet papers 
that meet Cabinet Offi ce 
technical criteria

Percentage of policy advice 
papers that meet Cabinet 
Offi ce deadlines

100%

100%

95%

100%

72%

86%

$14,798,000

Cost:

The output is produced 
within appropriation 
(GST exclusive)

$21,201,000 $18,399,000
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Commentary on performance

The Ministry has made substantial progress in its policy work 
over the fi nancial year. Major achievements for the year 
included:

Assisting economic development

• Processed a pipeline protected area application for 
the Pohokura offshore oilfi eld development in Taranaki 
(see “Protecting our pipelines” story on pages 26-27).

• Completed input to amending the Maritime Transport 
Act 1994 to allow overseas-registered ships that are 
New Zealand operated and crewed to carry coastal cargo 
“anytime and anywhere” in New Zealand – this change 
removed the compliance costs involved in specially 
authorising these ships to operate in New Zealand.

• Conducted public consultation on the Auckland Road 
Pricing Evaluation Study (ARPES) (see “What cost for 
reducing congestion?” story on pages 22-23).

• Participated in the development, and ongoing 
implementation, of the transport initiatives in Budget 2006.

• Contributed to ongoing work aimed at getting an 
agreed vision and approach, between central and local 
government, to transport issues in Auckland.

• Completed the Waikato joint offi cials project (JOG) which 
resulted in additional funding being made available to the 
Waikato region.

• Processed applications under the Airport Authorities Act.
• Processed applications to amend port constitutions.
• Provided information to tolling applicants under the Land 

Transport Management Act, and advised the Minister of 
Transport on tolling applications. 

• Established a framework for working with the seven joint 
venture airport partners.

• Completed work on passenger transport funding policy.
• Supported the introduction of, and report back by Select 

Committee on, the Rail Network Bill.
• Progressed discussions with the Ministry of Economic 

Development on utility access to roads corridors. 
• Progressed work on the expenditure review into land 

transport funding.
• Assisted with the establishment and operation of the 

Minister’s advisory group on roading costs. 

Improving access and mobility

• Completed the review of the Public Transport Procurement 
aspects of the Transport Services Licensing Act (1989).

• Participated in Land Transport New Zealand’s review of 
their Public Transport Procurement procedures.

• Progressed a rule providing standards for accessible buses.
• Commenced work to address issues identifi ed in the 

Human Rights Commission’s Inquiry into Accessible 
Public Land Transport.

• Commenced work to develop a set of accessibility 
indicators.

• Progressed a rule change to broaden the purposes for 
which carpooling can be used.

Assisting safety and personal security

• Progressed policy work associated with the Civil Aviation 
(Security) Bill.

• Progressed implementation of the Land Transport 
Amendment Act, passed in June 2005 – the Act enhances 
safety and personal security through stricter licensing laws 
for buses and taxis and tougher enforcement measures for 
repeat drink drivers and repeat disqualifi ed driver offenders.

• Progressed development of future policy initiatives to 
reach the Government’s Road Safety 2010 goals.

• Led review of heavy vehicle compliance and enforcement.
• Developed and consulted on draft rail safety targets.
• Progressed policy development on persons driving while 

under the infl uence of drugs.
• Progressed implementation of government decisions 

arising out of the Review of Older Driver Licensing Policy 
(see “A mature approach to older driver licensing” 
story on pages 18-19).

• Established an interagency group to develop a cross- 
modal approach to alcohol and drug impairment issues 
in transport.

• Completed policy development and assessment of 
transport rules including Ministerial approvals and 
Cabinet agreement.

• Progressed development of operator licensing fees 
and charges regulation consequential to the passing 
of the Land Transport Amendment Act 2005.

• Progressed policy work associated with driver 
distraction issues.
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• Progressed development of a Transport National 
Emergency Response plan.

• Represented New Zealand at the APEC Transportation 
Working Group Forum; the Pacifi c Forum Regional 
Security Committee; UNECE World Forum for 
Harmonisation of Vehicle Regulations; and the OECD 
working group on achieving ambitious road safety targets.

• Ensured implementation of 100 percent hold stow 
baggage screening for international departures by 
1 January 2006 to meet New Zealand’s ICAO obligations.

• Worked with border control and transport agencies 
to respond to emerging international transport security 
requirements.

• Worked with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade on 
international recognition of driver licensing arrangements.

• Led a tripartite government, employer and worker 
delegation to the 94th Maritime session of the International 
Labour Conference of the International Labour 
Organization (ILO) – the conference adopted the Maritime 
Labour Convention 2006 to update and consolidate some 
60 individual maritime labour instruments (see “Making the 
seas safer for seafarers” story on pages 20-21).

• Commenced two projects supporting the Transport 
Sector Strategic Directions document – the Integrated 
Approach to Planning and Strategic Transport Futures 
projects each add to our knowledge as to how to work 
better towards sustainability (see “Strategic directions set 
for transport’s collective action” story on pages 24-25). 

Programme changes

Some areas of policy work in 2005/06 are part of a three-
year cycle so are not yet complete, but have met the annual 
work programme objectives. Other areas were cancelled, 
deferred or re-prioritised as agreed with the Ministers 
throughout the fi nancial year. Examples include:
• Investigating rebuilding the Landata system (deferred to 

2006/07).
• Reviewing the survey processes and methodology for 

Road User compliance surveys (cancelled).
• Reviewing opportunities within the current land transport 

set for the use of economic instruments to infl uence 
vehicle choice (deferred to 2006/07).

• Reviewing Land Transport Management Act Guidelines 
(reprioritised).

• Development of maritime safety targets (deferred). 
• Transport Accident Investigation Amendment Bill 

(still being scoped).

New projects were also introduced such as:
• Creating a Ministerial Advisory Group (MAG) 

on roading costs.
• Expenditure review of roading costs.
• Auckland transport strategic alignment project 

(being undertaken jointly between central government 
and the Auckland region). 

• Developing levies, regional petrol tax and other 
revenue tools.
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Policy output: Ministerial Services

Description: 

The provision of advice to the Minister on issues arising 
across all modes of transport, draft responses to ministerial 
correspondence and Parliamentary questions, speech drafts, 
development of legislation (Acts, Regulations and Rules) 
and other services.

Actual 
2004/05

Performance 
Measures

Standards/
targets 
2005/06

Actual 
2005/06

75%

38%

1339 drafts

404 written

609

46

Quantity:

Legislation progressed as per 
the Parliamentary legislation 
programme

Completion of agreed work 
programme

Ministerial responses

Parliamentary questions

Reports to Minister

Speeches

100%

100%

1000-1500

550-600

750-800

50-60

20%*

30%

1532 drafts

466 written

584

39

92%

7 working 
days prior 
to the 
speaking 
date or 
as agreed

62%
91%

Quality:

Percentage of fi rst drafts of 
ministerial correspondence 
accepted by the Minister

Working days for provision 
of draft speech notes

Percentage of ministerial 
correspondence replied to 
within:
– 20 working days
– 30 working days

95%

7 working 
days prior to 
the speaking 
date or as 
agreed

75%
95%

88.1%**

Achieved

72%
92%

$4,700,000

Cost:

The output is produced 
within appropriation 
(GST exclusive)

$9,716,000 $9,238,000

Commentary on performance

* These results were affected by the central government elections and

four changes in Ministerial responsibility during 2005/06. 

** This fi gure relates in part to the changes in Ministerial responsibilities, 

and the need to reformat papers for the new Ministers. 

The 2005/06 transport sector rules programme as agreed 
by Cabinet comprised fi fty-eight rules projects, including 
sixteen new rules with the balance rolled over from 
previous years. Nine were completed in 2005/06. Two of 
the completed rules however were large omnibus rules 
containing a signifi cant number of amended rules parts.

Signifi cant progress was made on a number of other rules on 
the 2005/06 programme.

Output class: Policy Advice – fi nancial performance

30/06/05
Actual

$000

30/06/06
Actual

$000

30/06/06
Main

 estimates
$000

30/06/06
Supple-
mentary 

estimates
$000

25,118

971

26,089

24,850

1,239

Revenue Crown

Other revenue

Total revenue

Total expenses

Net surplus

28,291

509

28,800

27,637

1,163

27,914

126

28,040

28,040

0

30,291

626

30,917

30,917

0
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Output class: Motor Vehicle Registry (MVR) 

and Revenue Management (RM)

This output class managed the MVR and RM business to 
maximise the collection of Crown revenue that is properly 
due and take a proactive approach to debt management, 
including the investigation of new technologies in the 
recording and collection of Crown revenue. The revenue 
collected funds transport infrastructure and activities that 
contribute to achieving NZTS objectives. These services 
are delivered through Land Transport New Zealand.

Results sought

• The transport system supports sustainable national 
and regional economic development.

• The transport system is made safer and more secure.
• The transport system uses land, energy and other 

resources more sustainably.

Actual 
2004/05

Performance 
Measures

Standards/
targets 
2005/06

Actual 
Volumes
2005/06

326,135

5,047,782

981,636

668,724

1,984,263

296,000

19,000

8,493,000

Quantity:

Motor vehicle new 
registrations

Motor vehicle licensing

Motor vehicle change of 
ownership

Other licensing

RUC licensing

RUC refunds

FED refunds

Number of information 
requests

340,000

5,300,000

1,050,000

870,000

2,000,000

290,000

14,000

6.0-6.4 
million

327,000

5,080,000

1,002,000

1,290,000

1,962,000

310,000

25,000

10.9 million*

113
3013

14,779

$11.96 
million

Quantity:

Number of RUC:
• Investigations
• audits and surveys

Number of light vehicle audits

Amount of identifi ed and 
proved RUC revenue evasion

90-110
3060-4580

2500-3000

$5-6 million

109
2806

15,161

$12.78 million

Actual 
2004/05

Performance 
Measures

Standards/
targets 
2005/06

Actual 
2005/06

92% 

$6.26

Achieved

83%

61 
minutes of 
unplanned 
outages

98.4%

Achieved

Quality:

Percentage of MVR and RUC 
licence purchasers who 
rate the services provided as 
“good” or better based on 
independent survey

RUC and MVR costs per 
transaction

Maximum release time for 
all valid applications for 
certifi cates of registration

Percentage of users who rank 
MVR supplied data as meeting 
their expectations, based on 
independent survey

Availability of LANDATA 
computer system

Accuracy of LANDATA records

Entry of MVR transactions 
into database

90%

$6.26

36 hours

90%

Less than 
48 hours of 
unplanned 
outage per 
annum

95% by 
random 
sample

Within 48 
hours of 
receipt

96%

$5.83

Achieved

86%

3.5 hours

99%

Achieved

$61,188,000

Cost:

The outputs are produced 
within appropriation 
(GST exclusive)

$64,137,000 $60,703,000

* The number of information requests relate to online inquiries through 

Motorcheck. There were 44,000 over-the-counter and over-the-phone inquiries.

  RUC – Road User Charge

  FED – Federal Excise Duty
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Commentary on performance

The costs per MVR transaction were $5.83 compared to a 
target of $6.26. This pleasing result was achieved through 
incremental improved processing. 

Information user satisfaction surveys showed an 
improvement with 96% of those surveyed being satisfi ed 
with Motor Vehicle and Road User Charge (RUC) licence 
services compared with 92% in the last fi nancial year. An 
improvement was also noted in the rate of satisfaction, with 
data supplied by the MVR meeting expectations. 

LANDATA computer system availability was well within 
target, with minimal unplanned outages.

Output class: Motor Vehicle Registry and Revenue 

Management – fi nancial performance

30/06/05
Actual

$000

30/06/06
Actual

$000

30/06/06
Main

 estimates
$000

30/06/06
Supple-
mentary 

estimates
$000

49,565

11,327

60,892

58,792

2,100

Revenue Crown

Other revenue

Total revenue

Total expenses

Net surplus

 49,096

 11,593

 60,689

 60,703

 (14)

52,096

12,041

64,137

64,137

0

52,096

12,041

64,137

64,137

0

(amounts are GST exclusive)

Commentary on performance:

• Established an annual process for the indexation of petrol 
and light RUC.

• Initiated work on RUC enforcement.

Output class: Airport Operation and 

Administration

This output class covered the operation of Milford Sound/
Piopiotahi Aerodrome to provide a safe and effi cient airport 
operation that contributes to the achievement of NZTS 
objectives.

Results sought

• The transport system supports sustainable national 
and regional economic development.

The following measures will be used to demonstrate 
progress against the desired result:
• The aerodrome operational area conforms to CAA 

advisory material.
• Landing charges are adequate to ensure continuing 

operation.

Comment

The Ministry works closely with the Airways Corporation, 
the Civil Aviation Authority and the Queenstown-Milford 
User Group to ensure safe operations. The aerodrome 
complies with Civil Aviation Authority physical standards, 
even though certifi cation is not required.

Actual 
2004/05

Performance 
Measures

Standards/
targets 
2005/06

Actual 
2005/06

100%

Quality:

Conformance with Civil 
Aviation Authority aerodrome 
design advisory material

100% 100%

$80,000

Cost:

Operation within third-party 
revenue (GST exclusive)

$200,000 $187,000

Commentary on performance

There were no reported aircraft incidents attributable to the 
physical condition of the aerodrome. During the year the 
Ministry undertook routine maintenance and obtained an 
engineering report recommending a runway reseal by 2008. 
It also reviewed landing charges in consultation with the 
Queenstown-Milford User Group and obtained the Minister 
of Transport's approval to a 2% increase from 1 July 2006.
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The revenue target for 2005/06 assumed a substantial 
increase in third-party revenue to meet operating costs and 
an increased level of capital charge on re-valued assets. In 
the event, it proved unnecessary to adjust charges during 
the year to meet operating expenses, and the one-off write-
off of physical assets (temporary helipads) has resulted 
in a defi cit while remaining within the appropriation. It 
is anticipated that unless unusual costs are incurred, the 
aerodrome normative operational costs in 2006/07 will be 
within third-party revenue.

Output class: Airport Operation and Administration –

fi nancial performance 

30/06/05
Actual

$000

30/06/06
Actual

$000

30/06/06
Main

 estimates
$000

30/06/06
Supple-
mentary 

estimates
$000

0

109

109

80

29

Revenue Crown

Other revenue

Total revenue

Total expenses

Net surplus

 0

 116

 116

 187

 (71)

0

200

200

200

0

0

200

200

200

0

(amounts are GST exclusive)

Output class: Sector Leadership and Support

This output included coordinating planning across the 
government transport sector to align government transport 
agency work programmes with the objectives of the 
NZTS. It also included monitoring transport Crown entity 
contributions to the achievement of these objectives, 
providing advice on the Crown’s ownership interest in these 
entities, management on the Minister’s behalf of contracts 
and agreements with transport Crown entities and other 
organisations, and reporting on issues and risks with respect 
to the particular services purchased.

The agreements and contracts are:
• Annual Performance Agreements with the Civil Aviation 

Authority, Land Transport New Zealand, Maritime 
New Zealand, Transit New Zealand, Transport 
Accident Investigation Commission.

• An agreement with the New Zealand Police.

• A purchase contract with the Meteorological Service 
of New Zealand Ltd.

Results sought

• The transport system supports sustainable national 
and regional economic development.

• The transport system is made safer and more secure.
• The transport system is inclusive, accessible and 

affordable to all users.
• The transport system contributes to positive health 

outcomes.
• Transport uses land, energy and other resources 

effectively.

The following measures will be used to demonstrate 
progress against the desired results:
• Transport sector strategic work programme planning 

is aligned to the achievement of NZTS objectives.
• Contracts and agreements are current and are aligned 

to the achievement of the NZTS.
• Risk is managed by the use of independent reviews.

Commentary on performance

The Ministry and Crown entities are collaborating in 
the development of a draft framework of key transport 
indicators. These indicators will be used to measure the 
transport sector’s progress towards delivering the NZTS. 
The draft hierarchy of potential indicators and measures 
ranges from high level, cross-modal indicators to more 
specifi c measures (as data and/or need requires).

The Ministry and Crown entities also implemented the 
initial elements of a common format for their respective 
Statements of Intent for 2006 to 2009.

Coordinated strategic planning across the government 
transport sector was realised in December 2005 with the 
publishing of the fi rst Transport Sector Strategic Directions 
document. It sets out a number of projects that will deliver 
the cross-agency objectives of the NZTS.
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Actual 
2004/05

Performance 
Measures

Standards/
targets 
2005/06

Actual 
2005/06

10

36

Quantity:

Number of completed 
agreements or contracts

Number of transport agency 
reports evaluated

Number of independent 
reviews

10

No target for 
2005/06

No target for 
2005/06

3*

44

1

100%

90% 
Achieved

Quality:

Percentage of negotiated 
performance agreements 
that meet the quality 
characteristics defi ned in the 
Treasury Purchase Agreement 
Guidelines

Date on which all perform-
ance agreements for the next 
fi nancial year will be in place 

100%

30 June 2006

100%

 ** 

$431,000

Cost:

The output is produced 
within appropriation 
(GST exclusive)

$729,000 $726,000

* Seven contracts were not completed by 30 June 2006 because: the new Minister 

deferred completion of fi ve 2006/07 output agreements; Ministry monitoring 

of ONTRACK did not eventuate; and the contract with New Zealand Police for 

road enforcement activities, funded through the new ALTP, is being reviewed 

to refl ect legislative and process changes.

** During 2005/06, the Minister required (under the Crown Entities Act 2004) 

an output agreement for each transport sector Crown entity for 2006/07. 

These output agreements replace, and are based largely on, the 2005/06 

performance agreements. Draft agreements were prepared for June 2006. 

At that time, however, the new Minister deferred completion to allow her time to 

signal her expectations to the Crown entities.

30/06/05
Actual

$000

30/06/06
Actual

$000

30/06/06
Main

 estimates
$000

30/06/06
Supple-
mentary 

estimates
$000

542

24

566

431

135

Revenue Crown

Other revenue

Total revenue

Total expenses

Net surplus

729

0

729

726

3

424

0

424

424

0

729

0

729

729

0

Output class: Distress Radio Beacons 

National Education Campaign

This output provides for the development and implement-
ation of a four-year national education campaign:
• To inform owners and users of the types of distress radio 

beacon that transmit on the 121.5 MHz frequency that 
those beacons will become inoperable when changes to 
the global satellite receiving system come into effect on 
1 February 2009, and that they need to upgrade to a 
beacon transmitting on the 406 MHz frequency.

• To promote the ownership and appropriate use of distress 
radio beacons in the areas covered by New Zealand 
search and rescue services .

Results sought

The expected results are:
• The transport system is made safer and more secure.
• The transport system contributes to positive health 

outcomes.
• Transport uses land, energy and other resources 

effectively.

The Ministry has been provided with a multi-year 
appropriation of $888,000 covering a four-year period 
commencing in 2005/06.

The following measure will be used to demonstrate progress 
against the desired results:
• A reduction from the 2003/04 level in fatalities from 

search and rescue incidents that may have been avoided, 
or reduced to an injury, if a distress radio beacon had 
been used.
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Comment

The Distress Radio Beacons National Education Campaign 
was successfully launched in November 2005. Campaign 
material was developed and signifi cant advertising 
placements made in appropriate publications during spring, 
summer and autumn. A website to support the education 
campaign was established at www.beacons.org.nz

Actual 
2004/05

Performance 
Measures

Standards/
targets 
2005/06

Actual 
2005/06

New output

Quality:

100% of current owners 
and users of distress radio 
beacons are aware of the 
need to upgrade distress 
radio beacons transmitting 
on the 121.5 MHz frequency 

Launch an 
effective 
campaign 
by 30 June 
2006

Achieved

–

Cost:

The output is produced 
within appropriation 
(GST exclusive)

$290,000 $275,000 

Commentary on performance

Performance of the education campaign was not formally 
measured during the 2005/06 year. A mid-point assessment 
of the effectiveness of the campaign will be conducted 
following the 2006/07 campaign season. 

Output class: Distress Radio Beacons National 

Education Campaign – fi nancial performance

30/06/05
Actual

$000

30/06/06
Actual

$000

30/06/06
Main

 estimates
$000

30/06/06
Supple-
mentary 

estimates
$000

Revenue Crown

Other revenue

Total revenue

Total expenses

Net surplus

290

0

290

275

15

222

0

222

222

0

290

0

290

290

0

(amounts are GST exclusive)

43 



44 Financial Statements: Ministry – Ministry of Transport Annual Report 05/06

Financial Statements 

Financial Statements: Ministry 45

Schedules And Statements: Crown 65

Section 3 – Ministry of Transport Annual Report 05/0644 

3



45 

Statement of Objectives – Financial Performance for the year ended 30 June 2006

This Statement details the actual performance of the Ministry of Transport against performance measures established 
in the Estimates of Expenditure approved by Parliament.

 
 30/6/05  Unit 30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000     

  Operating results     
 12,431  Revenue other $000 12,218  12,367  12,867 
 85,964  Output expenses $000 89,528  93,023  96,273 
 4,140  Operating surplus before capital charge $000 1,845   724   724 
 3,519  Net surplus $000 1,096  –  – 

  Working capital  
 2,302  Net current assets $000 1,288  727  559 
 125  Current ratio % 125  125  110 

  Resource utilisation    
 7,590  Total physical assets at year end  $000 8,634  8,987  9,371 
 54  Additions as a % of physical assets at year end % 60  51  56 
 40  Physical assets as a % of total assets at year end % 58  71  60 
 9,360  Taxpayers' funds at year end $000 9,360  9,144  9,360 

  Net cash flows  
 9,885  Surplus from operating activities $000 3,993  3,815  3,537 
  (3,772) Deficit from investing activities $000  (5,048) (4,578)  (5,391)
  (2,261) Deficit from financing activities $000  (3,520) –   (3,519)
  3,852  Net increase/(decrease) in cash held $000 (4,575)  (763)  (5,373)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: MINISTRY

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these fi nancial statements. Explanations of major variances from budget appear in Note 20.
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Statement of Accounting Policies for the year ended 30 June 2006

Reporting entity

The Ministry of Transport is a government department as defi ned by section 2 of the Public Finance Act 1989.

The information in these fi nancial statements comprises the revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities associated with operating:
• Wellington, Auckland and Christchurch offi ces for the full year.
• Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome for the full year.

In addition, the Ministry was responsible for the Motor Vehicle Registry and Revenue Management business and the Economic 
Compliance Unit, both of which were contracted out to Land Transport New Zealand for the full year.

These fi nancial statements have been prepared pursuant to section 35 of the Public Finance Act 1989.

In addition, the Ministry has reported the Crown activities which it administered throughout 2005/06.

Measurement system

The fi nancial statements have been prepared on an historical cost basis modifi ed by the revaluation of certain fi xed assets. 

Accounting policies

The following particular accounting policies which materially affect the measurement of fi nancial results and fi nancial position 
have been applied:

Budget fi gures

The Budget fi gures are those presented in the Budget Night Estimates (Main Estimates) and those amended by the 2005/06 
Supplementary Estimates. 

Revenue

The Ministry derives revenue through the provision of outputs to the Crown and for services to third parties. Such revenue is 
recognised when earned and is reported in the fi nancial period to which it relates.

Cost allocation

The Ministry has determined the costs of outputs using a cost allocation system which is outlined below:

• Cost allocation policy
Direct costs are charged directly to outputs from the source document, plus costs which are assigned to outputs on the basis 
of a causal link, i.e. they can be traced directly to outputs delivered.

Indirect costs are all other costs. Indirect costs are allocated to outputs on an appropriate basis, i.e. they cannot be traced 
directly to outputs, hence the need to use an allocation base.

• Method of assigning direct costs to outputs
Direct charging of costs to outputs includes personnel costs, which are charged by recording time spent on each output, 
and operating costs, such as consultants, which are charged to outputs on the basis of the cost of the service provided.

For the year ended 30 June 2006, direct costs accounted for 62% of the Ministry’s costs (2005: 67%).

• Method of assigning indirect costs to outputs
Indirect costs are support servicing costs including accommodation, depreciation and capital charges. Indirect costs are 
allocated to outputs through a two-stage process: the costs are assigned to cost centres within the Ministry, then the costs 
are allocated to outputs on the basis of direct staff costs attributable to outputs.

For the year ended 30 June 2006, indirect costs accounted for 38% of the Ministry’s costs (2005: 33%).



47 

Operating leases

Leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefi ts of ownership of the leased item, are charged 
as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Receivables and advances

Receivables are recorded at estimated realisable value, after providing for doubtful and uncollectable debts.

Physical assets 

Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome is stated at optimised depreciated replacement cost as determined by an independent 
registered valuer. Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome is revalued at least every fi ve years. Additions between revaluations 
are recorded at cost.

The results of revaluing Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome are credited or debited to an asset revaluation reserve for that 
class of asset. Where a revaluation results in a debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the debit balance will be expensed in 
the Statement of Financial Performance.

All other fi xed assets costing more than $2,000 are capitalised. They are valued at historical cost or estimated recoverable 
amount, less accumulated depreciation. Any write-down of an item to its recoverable amount is recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Performance.

Depreciation of physical assets

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all physical assets at rates which will write off the cost of assets to their 
estimated residual value over their useful lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of assets 
have been estimated as follows:

Crash Analysis System 2 years 50% per annum
Furniture and fi ttings 10 years 10% per annum
LANDATA assets 3 years 33.3% per annum
Leasehold improvements 2-10 years 10-50% per annum
Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome 6-100 years 1-17% per annum
Plant and equipment 3-10 years 10-33.3% per annum

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

Capital work in progress is not depreciated. The total cost of this work is transferred to the relevant asset category on its 
completion and then depreciated.

Payables

Payments due to suppliers for goods and services received at balance date but not paid for are included in the fi nancial 
statements. They are recorded at the estimated obligation to pay.

Provision for employee entitlements

Provision is made in respect of the Ministry’s liability for annual leave, long service leave and retirement leave. Annual leave 
has been calculated on an actual entitlement basis at current rates of pay, while the other provisions have been calculated on an 
actuarial basis on the present value of expected future entitlements.

Taxpayers’ funds

This is the Crown’s net investment in the Ministry.
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Financial instruments

The Ministry of Transport is party to fi nancial instruments as part of its normal operations. These fi nancial instruments include 
cash and bank balances, and accounts receivable and payable. All fi nancial instruments are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position and all revenues and expenses in relation to fi nancial instruments are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. 

All fi nancial instruments are shown at their estimated fair value.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The Statement of Financial Position is exclusive of GST except for receivables and advances and payables, which are GST 
inclusive. All other statements are GST exclusive. 

The amount of GST owing to the Inland Revenue Department at balance date, being the difference between Output GST and 
Input GST, is included in receivables or payables (as appropriate).

Taxation

Government departments are exempt from the payment of income tax in terms of the Income Tax Act 1994. Accordingly, no 
charge for income tax has been provided for.

Statement of Cash Flows

Cash means cash balances on hand and held in bank accounts.

Operating activities include cash received from all income sources of the Ministry and record the cash payments made for the 
supply of goods and services.

Investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition and disposal of non-current assets.

Financing activities comprise the payment to the Crown of the operating surplus achieved by the Ministry.

Commitments

Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that have been entered into at balance date are disclosed as 
commitments to the extent that they are equally unperformed obligations.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which the contingency is evident.

Changes in accounting policies

There have been no changes in accounting policies, including cost allocation accounting policies, since the date of the last 
audited fi nancial statements.

All policies have been applied on a basis consistent with the previous year.
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The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these fi nancial statements. Explanations of major variances from budget appear in Note 20.

Statement of Financial Performance for the year ended 30 June 2006

The Statement of Financial Performance details the revenue and  expenses relating to all outputs (goods and services) 
produced by the Ministry of Transport. The supporting statements showing the revenue and expenditure of each output 
class provide further detail as to the  revenues and expenses of each output class.

 
 30/6/05  Notes 30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  Revenue 
  27,487  Crown 1   29,310   28,560   31,310 
  49,565  Revenue from the National Land Transport Fund 2   49,096   52,096   52,096 
  12,431  Other  3  12,218   12,367   12,867 

  89,483  Total operating revenue   90,624   93,023   96,273 

  Expenses 
  9,547  Personnel  4   12,715   16,912   11,343 
  72,748  Operating  5   72,511   71,683   80,700 
  3,048  Depreciation 6   3,553   3,704   3,506 
  621  Capital charge 7   749   724   724 

 85,964  Total expenses   89,528   93,023   96,273 

  3,519  Net surplus   1,096   –   –
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The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these fi nancial statements. Explanations of major variances from budget appear in Note 20.

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2006

The Statement of Financial Position reports the total assets and liabilities of the Ministry of Transport. The difference between 
assets and liabilities is called taxpayers’ funds.

 
 30/6/05  Notes 30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 9,360  Taxpayers' funds   9,360   9,144   9,360 

  Represented by:   
  Current assets   
  9,649  Cash and bank balances   5,074   3,532   4,276 
  296  Prepayments   –   83   326 
  1,560  Receivables and advances 8   1,303   48   1,560 

  11,505  Total current assets   6,377   3,663   6,162 

  Non-current assets   
  7,590  Physical assets  9   8,634   8,987   9,371 

  19,095  Total assets    15,011   12,650   15,533 

  Current liabilities   
  4,696  Payables  10   3,220   2,029   4,696 
  404  Creditor for physical assets 11   95   300   300 
  3,519  Provision for payment of surplus to the Crown   1,096   –   – 
  584  Provision for employee entitlements 12   678   607   607 

  9,203  Total current liabilities   5,089   2,936   5,603 

  Non-current liabilities   
  532  Provision for employee entitlements 12   562   570   570 

  9,735  Total liabilities    5,651   3,506   6,173 

  9,360  Net assets   9,360   9,144   9,360
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The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these fi nancial statements. Explanations of major variances from budget appear in Note 20.

Statement of Movements in Taxpayers’ Funds for the year ended 30 June 2006

The Statement of Movements in Taxpayers’ Funds combines information about the net surplus with other aspects of the 
fi nancial performance of the Ministry of Transport, to give a measure of comprehensive income. This statement, together with 
the Statement of Financial Position, provides information for assessing the return on investment in the Ministry of Transport.

 
 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  7,757  Taxpayers’ funds at the start of the year   9,360   9,144   9,360 

  Movements during the year 
  (other than flows to and from the Crown)    
  603  Revaluation of Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome   –   –   – 
  3,519  Net surplus   1,096   –   – 

  4,122  Total recognised revenues and expenses for the year   1,096   –   – 

  Adjustment for flows to and from the Crown 
  1,000  Capital Contribution   –   –   – 
  (3,519) Net surplus to be paid to the Crown   (1,096)  –   – 

  (2,519) Total adjustments for flows to and from the Crown   (1,096)  –   – 

  9,360  Taxpayers' funds at the end of the year   9,360   9,144   9,360
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The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these fi nancial statements. Explanations of major variances from budget appear in Note 20.

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2006

The Statement of Cash Flows summarises the cash movements in and out of the Ministry of Transport during the year. 
It takes no account of money owed to the Ministry or owing by the Ministry, and therefore differs from the Statement 
of Financial Performance.

 
 30/6/05  Notes 30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  Cash flows from operating activities 
  Cash was provided from supply of outputs to: 
  27,487      Crown  1  29,310 28,560 31,310
  126      Departments  294 46 314
  12,561      Crown entities  12,065 12,121 12,353
  49,565      National Land Transport Fund 2  49,096 52,096 52,096
  58      Other  116 200 200
  Cash was disbursed to cost of producing outputs: 
  (9,013)     Personnel  (12,604) (16,240) (10,617)
  (68,884)     Operating expenses  (73,363) (70,806) (80,767)
  (1,394)     Net GST paid  (172) (1,437) (628)
  (621)     Capital charge 7  (749) (724) (724)

  9,885  Net cash flows from operating activities   3,993 3,815 3,537

  Cash flows from investing activities 
  Cash was provided from: 
  –      Sale of physical assets 14  47 – –
  Cash was disbursed to:  
  (3,772)     Purchase of physical assets  (5,095) (4,578) (5,391)

  (3,772) Net cash flows from investing activities   (5,048) (4,578) (5,391)

  Cash flows from financing activities 
  Cash was provided from:  
 1,000      Capital Contributions  – – –
  Cash was disbursed to: 
  (3,261)     Payment of surplus to the Crown   (3,520) –  (3,519)

  (2,261) Net cash flows from financing activities   (3,520) –  (3,519)

 3,852  Net increase/(decrease) in cash held   (4,575) (763) (5,373)
 5,797  Total cash balances at start of year  9,649 4,295 9,649

 9,649  Total cash balances at end of year  5,074 3,532 4,276
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The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these fi nancial statements. Explanations of major variances from budget appear in Note 20.

Statement of Commitments as at 30 June 2006

The Statement of Commitments records those expenditures to which the Ministry of Transport is contractually committed, 
and which will become liabilities if and when the terms of the contract are met.

 30/6/05     30/6/06
 Actual     Actual 
 $000     $000

  Operating commitments 
  19,011  Non-cancellable accommodation leases*     13,808 
  49,148  Other non-cancellable contracts for the supply of goods and services **    50,349 

  68,159  Total operating commitments     64,157 

  Capital commitments 
  –  Plant and equipment     80 

  –  Total capital commitments     80 

  68,159  Total commitments     64,237 

  Term classification of commitments 
  50,932  Less than one year     51,519 
  1,398  More than one year but less than two years     1,611 
  15,829  More than two years     11,107 

  68,159  Total commitments     64,237

*   Several accommodation leases are cancellable, subject to a penalty. The amount disclosed is based on current rental rates. 

** Includes commitments to state-owned enterprises and Crown entities for the supply of outputs.     

Statement of Contingent Liabilities as at 30 June 2006

The Statement of Contingent Liabilities discloses situations which exist at 30 June 2006, the ultimate outcome of which 
is uncertain and will be confi rmed only on the occurrence of one or more future events after the date of approval of the 
fi nancial statements. 

 30/6/05     30/6/06
 Actual     Actual 
 $000     $000

  179  Legal proceedings     167 
 33  Personal grievances     – 

  212  Total contingent liabilities     167 
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The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these fi nancial statements. Explanations of major variances from budget appear in Note 20.

Statement of Unappropriated Expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2006

The Ministry overspent the Sector Leadership and Support appropriation by $2,000 for the eight months ended 28 February 
2006. This expenditure was incurred in advance of receiving joint Minister authority for a fi scally neutral transfer as part of the 
March Baseline Update process.    

$205,000 was transferred from the Policy Advice appropriation to the Sector Leadership and Support appropriation in the 
March Baseline Update process. The fi scally neutral transfer refl ected growth in resources used in this area.  

Full year expenditure was within the amended level of appropriated expenditure for 2005/06 as refl ected in the Supplementary 
Estimates.    

All other expenses in relation to the activities of, or appropriations administered by, the Ministry during 2005/06 were within 
appropriation (2004/05 = $nil).    

Statement of Departmental Expenditure and Appropriations for the year ended 30 June 2006

     30/6/06  30/6/06*
      Actual Voted
     Expenditure  Appropriation
      $000 $000

  Vote: Transport    
  Appropriations for classes of outputs    
  Policy Advice   27,637  30,917 
  Motor Vehicle Registry and Revenue Management   60,703  64,137
  Airport Operation and Administration   187  200 
  Sector Leadership and Support   726  729 
  Distress Radio Beacons National Education Campaign   275  290 

  Total departmental expenditure and appropriations   89,528  96,273

* These appropriations include adjustments made in the 2005/06 Supplementary Estimates. Note 19 contains a summary of those changes.   
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006

Note 1: Revenue Crown

This is revenue earned for the supply of outputs to the Crown.

Note 2: Revenue from the National Land Transport Fund

The Ministry received funding from the National Land Transport Fund to cover the net operating costs of the Motor Vehicle 
Registry and Revenue Management output class.

Note 3: Other revenue

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 185  Departmental   296   46   314
 12,136  Crown entities   11,806   12,121   12,353
 110  Other expense recoveries and refunds   116   200   200

 12,431  Total other revenue   12,218   12,367   12,867 

    

Note 4: Personnel expenses    

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 9,386  Salary and wages   12,583   16,842   11,273
 51  Annual leave   63   –   –
 29  Long service leave   39   24   24
 81  Retirement leave   30   46   46

 9,547  Total personnel expenses   12,715   16,912   11,343 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Note 5: Operating expenses

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 580  Advertising and publicity   917   1,477   1,103
 (1) Asset write-off: leasehold improvements   –   –   –
 38  Audit fees – Audit of financial statements   40   40   40
 4  Audit fees – Other audit work performed   6   –   –
 –  Bad debt expense   –   –   –
 57  Books and periodicals   113   96   131
 840  Operating lease rentals   1,078   843   843
 1,223  Computer bureau and software hire   1,116   1,057   1,158
 58,786  Contract payments   59,586   62,924   62,884
 322  Courses, conferences and training   427   502   507
 –   Loss on sale of physical assets   142  –    –  
 6  Maintenance of assets   9   17   17
 291  Office stationery   157   186   186
 278  Phones, faxes, couriers, postage   282   213   183
 8,522  Professional and special services   6,480   2,806   10,914
 1  Provision for doubtful debts   (1)  –   –
 2  Scholarships   2   5   5
 1,046  Sundry   1,258  390   1,736
 753  Travel   899   1,127   993

 72,748  Total operating expenses   72,511   71,683   80,700 

Note 6: Depreciation expenses    

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  41  Furniture and fittings   52   36   60
 2,509  LANDATA assets   2,847   2,982   2,748
 184  Leasehold improvements*   202   153   153
 204  Plant and equipment   242   317   317
 102  Crash Analysis System   204   204   204
 8  Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome   6   12   24

 3,048  Total depreciation expenses   3,553   3,704   3,506

 *   The useful life of leasehold improvements was reassessed in 2004/05 to recognise the Wellington offi ce move that took place in April 2006.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Note 7: Capital charge

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  The Ministry pays a capital charge to the Crown          
  on its taxpayers’ funds as at 30 June and 31 December    
  each year. The capital charge rate for the year ended
 621 30 June 2006 was 8% (2005: 8.0%).   749  724  724

Note 8: Receivables and advances    

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 60  Departmental receivables and advances   2   1   60
 2  Crown entity receivables   194   48   101
 100  Trade receivables and advances   –   –   –
 (1) Less: Provision for doubtful debts   –   (1)  (1)

  161     196   48   160
 1,399  Receivable from Land Transport New Zealand*   1,107   –   1,400

 1,560  Total receivables and advances   1,303   48   1,560 

* Land Transport New Zealand's Transport Registry Centre and Economic Compliance Unit recorded operating surpluses for the year ended 30 June 2006 of $1,050,750 

  and $56,268 respectively (2005: $1,324,000 and $75,000 respectively). These surpluses are required to be paid by those units to the Ministry as they form part of the   

   Ministry’s net surplus which is payable to the Crown in 2006/07.       
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Note 9: Physical assets 

 30/6/05     30/6/06
 Actual     Actual
 $000     $000

  Furniture and fittings 
 623  At cost     879
 (280) Accumulated depreciation     (172)

 343  Furniture and fittings – net book value     707 

  LANDATA assets  
 28,166  At cost     30,534
 (23,105) Accumulated depreciation     (25,949)

 5,061  LANDATA assets – net book value     4,585 

  Leasehold improvements 
 257  At cost     1,983
 99  At valuation – 30 June 2003     –
 (204) Accumulated depreciation     (50)

 152  Leasehold improvements – net book value     1,933 

  Plant and equipment 
 1,813  At cost     1,604
 (1,241) Accumulated depreciation     (1,103)

 572  Plant and equipment – net book value     501 

  Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome 
 57  At cost     –
 703  At valuation – 30 June 2004*     703
 (8) Accumulated depreciation     (14)

 752  Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome – net book value     689 

  Crash Analysis System 
 408  At cost     408
 (102) Accumulated depreciation     (306)

 306  Crash Analysis System – net book value     102 

  Capital work in progress 
 404  LANDATA assets     95
 –  Plant and equipment     22

 404  Capital work in progress – net book value     117 

  Total physical assets 
 32,746  At cost and valuation     36,228
 (25,156) Accumulated depreciation     (27,594)

 7,590  Total carrying amount of physical assets     8,634 

    
*  Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome has been valued at optimised depreciated replacement cost as at 30 June 2004 by an independent registered valuer, 

    G Hughson (BE, MIPENZ), of Maunsell Ltd.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Note 10: Payables

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  1,722  Trade creditors   835   104   183
 2,846  Accrued expenses   2,084   1,641   4,385
 128  GST payable   301   284   128

 4,696  Total payables    3,220   2,029   4,696 

    

Note 11: Creditor for physical assets

Land Transport New Zealand has been contracted to develop the LANDATA assets for the Ministry. The Ministry 
reimburses Land Transport New Zealand for the development costs during the month after liability has been incurred.

    

Note 12: Provision for employee entitlements

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  Current liabilities   
  488  Annual leave   543   557   557 
  96  Long service leave   135   50   50 

  584  Total of current portion   678   607   607 

  Non-current liabilities   
  532  Retirement leave   562   570   570 

  532  Total of non-current portion   562   570   570 

  1,116  Total provision for employee entitlements   1,240   1,177   1,177 

 

Note 13: Purchase of physical assets

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  2,612  Development of the LANDATA assets  2,464  2,500   2,500 
  569  Plant and equipment  233  648   337 
  288  Furniture and fittings  480  50   550 
  234  Leasehold improvements  1,983  1,100   1,900 
  –  Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome   –  280   – 
  408  Crash Analysis System   –   –   – 

  4,111  Total for purchases of physical assets   5,160   4,578   5,287 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Note 14: Sale of physical assets    

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  –  Furniture and fittings   47   –   –

 –  Total for sales of physical assets   47   –   – 

Note 15: Reconciliation of the net surplus in the Statement of Financial Performance with net cash fl ows from 

operating activities in the Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2006

This reconciliation discloses the adjustments applied to the net surplus from the Statement of Financial Performance to arrive 
at the net cash fl ows from operating activities disclosed in the Statement of Cash Flows.  

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 3,519  Net surplus from the Statement of Financial Performance  1,096   –   –

  Add/(deduct) non-cash items from the   
  Statement of Financial Performance   
  3,048  Depreciation   3,553   3,704   3,506 

  3,048  Total of non-cash items   3,553   3,704   3,506

  Add/(deduct) movements in working capital items   
 (238) (Increase)/decrease in prepayments   296   (30)  (30)
 313  (Increase)/decrease in receivables and advances   258   –   – 
 2,702  Increase/(decrease) in payables and provisions   (1,459)  51   – 
 541  Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements   107   90   61

 3,318  Net movements in working capital items   (798)  111   31

  (Add)/deduct items classified as investing activities   
  –  Loss on sale of physical assets   142   –   – 

  –  Total of investing activities    142   –   –

  9,885  Net cash flows from operating activities   3,993   3,815   3,537
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Note 16: Financial instruments

The Ministry is party to fi nancial instrument arrangements as part of its everyday operations. These include instruments such as 
cash and bank balances, accounts receivable and accounts payable.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligations to the Ministry, causing the Ministry to incur a loss. In the 
normal course of its business, the Ministry incurs credit risk from trade debtors, and transactions with fi nancial institutions and 
the New Zealand Debt Management Offi ce (NZDMO).

The Ministry does not require any collateral or security to support fi nancial instruments with fi nancial institutions that the 
Ministry deals with, or with the NZDMO, as these entities have high credit ratings. For its other fi nancial instruments, the 
Ministry does not have signifi cant concentrations of credit risk.

Fair value

The fair value of fi nancial instruments is equivalent to the carrying amount disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position.

Interest rate risk

The Ministry has no signifi cant exposure to interest rate risk on its fi nancial instruments.

Note 17: Contingencies

The Ministry does not have any contingent assets as at 30 June 2006 (30 June 2005: $nil).

Contingent liabilities are separately disclosed in the Statement of Contingent Liabilities.

Note 18: Related party information

The Ministry is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The Government signifi cantly infl uences the role of the Ministry as well as 
being its major source of revenue. The Ministry enters into numerous transactions with other government departments, Crown 
agencies and state-owned enterprises on an arm’s length basis. Where those parties are acting in the course of their normal 
dealings with the Ministry, related party disclosures have not been made for transactions of this nature. Apart from those 
transactions described above, the Ministry has not entered into any related party transactions.
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Notes to the fi nancial statements (continued)

Note 19: Major budget changes

Changes were made to the Ministry’s departmental appropriations in the 2005/06 Supplementary Estimates. The net changes 
appear in the following table.

    Initial Budget Supplementary Cumulative
    Night Estimates Vote
    Estimates  
    $000 $000 $000

  Statement of Financial Performance   
  Appropriations for Departmental output expenses     
  Policy Advice  28,040 2,877 30,917
  Motor Vehicle Registry and Revenue Management (MVR & RM) 64,137 – 64,137
  Airport Operation and Administration  200 – 200
  Sector Leadership and Support  424 305 729
  Distress Radio Beacons National Education Campaign  222 68 290

Explanations for the major changes were outlined in the 2005/06 Supplementary Estimates (page 442). They were:

• Output expenses – Policy Advice
Purchase of strategic, objective and evidence-based policy advice relating to all modes of transport to progress the 
achievement of New Zealand Transport Strategy (NZTS) objectives. The increase in this appropriation is a result of: increased 
funding for Auckland Road Pricing of $2,000,000; an expense transfer from 2004/05 of $334,000; funding for RMA/CMA 
environmental policy work of $200,000; $48,000 from the Growth and Innovation Fund travel pool; $184,000 for the Search 
and Rescue Secretariat; $140,000 for research contract work and $176,000 for increased State Sector Retirement Scheme 
contributions. This is offset by a transfer of funding to the Sector Leadership and Support output class of $205,000.

• Output expenses – Sector Leadership and Support 
Coordinating planning across the government transport sector to align government transport agency work programmes 
with the objectives of the NZTS. The increase in this appropriation for 2005/06 was increased by an expense transfer from 
2004/05 ($100,000) and the re-allocation of resources from the Policy Advice output expense ($205,000).

• Output expenses – Distress Radio Beacons National Education Campaign
Funding for a national education campaign informing owners and users of distress radio beacons of the need to upgrade 
transmission frequency before 1 February 2009. The increase in this appropriation of $68,000 in 2005/06 is offset by a 
reduction in funding for the campaign in future years.
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Notes to the fi nancial statements (continued)

Note 20: Major budget variations

The signifi cant variances between the actual results and the initial Budget Night forecasts were:

Statement of Financial Performance

• Revenue Crown was $750,000 higher than the initial Budget Night estimate. The main factors contributing to this increase 
at a baseline level are those mentioned in Note 19 with respect to Policy Advice and Sector Leadership and Support. The 
difference between actual Crown revenue and the Supplementary Estimates value is due to a decision not to draw down 
$2,000,000 for Auckland Road Pricing. 

• Revenue from the National Land Transport Fund was $3,000,000 lower than the original budget due to a reduction in the 
level of funding required by the Motor Vehicle Registry Centre to administer its activities in 2005/06. 

• Other revenue was $149,000 lower than the original budget. At a baseline level revenue was increased for State Sector 
Retirement Scheme funding ($176,000) and Search and Rescue Funding ($184,000) and invoices to third parties ($140,000). 
The $649,000 difference between actual results and the fi nal Supplementary Estimates value was mainly due to receipts 
from Airport Operations being $84,000 lower than budget and revenue from Accident Compensation Corporation (ACC) 
collection and third party invoices lower than budget by $448,000 and $99,000 respectively.

• Personnel expenses were originally forecast at $16,912,000 but because of diffi culty recruiting this was reforecast to 
$11,343,000 in the Supplementary Estimates. The Ministry attracted more staff than anticipated during 2005/06 and 
subsequently $12,715,000 was spent with a corresponding reduction in operating expenses.

• Operating expenses were $828,000 higher than the Budget Night forecast. During the year $9,017,000 was added to the 
operating expenses baseline for payments to external suppliers for Auckland Road Pricing and other projects and to cover staff 
vacancies. The actual operating expenses were $8,189,000 lower than the Supplementary Estimates value due to MVR and RM 
expenses being lower than expected, the delay of project spending, and fi lling staff vacancies instead of using contractors.

Statement of Financial Position (and Cash Flows)

• Cash and bank balances were $798,000 higher than budget due to total expenses being below budget. 
• Prepayments were lower than anticipated due to contracts expiring in June 2006.
• The variance in receivables and advances is due primarily to receivables from Land Transport New Zealand being lower 

than expected.
• Physical assets were $737,000 lower than budget primarily due to less than expected expenditure on LANDATA and 

leasehold assets.
• The variance in payables is primarily due to amounts owing to suppliers at year end being over-estimated.
• The creditor for physical assets was lower than budgeted due to the LANDATA enhancements invoice for June being less 

than expected. 
• The provision for payment of surplus to the Crown is higher than budget primarily due to total expenses being below budget.

Note 21: Post balance date events

No signifi cant events which may impact on the actual results have occurred between year end and the signing of these 
fi nancial statements.
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Notes to the fi nancial statements (continued)

Note 22 – Impact of adopting New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS)

The Ministry of Transport is in the process of transitioning its accounting policies and fi nancial reporting from current New 
Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP) to New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (NZ IFRS) which will be applicable for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2008. During the 2005/06 year, the Ministry 
allocated internal resources and engaged expert consultants to conduct impact assessments to identify key areas that would be 
impacted by the transition to NZ IFRS. As a result, the Ministry established a project team to address each of the areas in order 
of priority. Priority has been given to the preparation of an opening balance sheet in accordance with NZ IFRS as at 1 July 2006, 
as Treasury requires an NZ IFRS-compliant balance sheet from this date. This will form the basis of accounting under NZ IFRS 
in the future, and is required when the Ministry prepares its fi rst complete set of NZ IFRS-compliant fi nancial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2008.

The Ministry of Transport expects the adoption of NZ IFRS to have very little effect on the fi nancial statements.

The fi gures disclosed are management’s best estimates of the quantitative impact of the changes as at the date of preparing 
the 30 June 2008 fi nancial statements. The actual effects of transition to NZ IFRS may differ from the estimates disclosed due 
to: (a) ongoing work being undertaken by the NZ IFRS project teams; (b) potential amendments to NZ IFRS and interpretations 
thereof being issued by the standard-setters and IFRIC; and (c) emerging accepted practice in the interpretation and 
application of NZ IFRS and interpretations.
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Introduction/overview

The following non-departmental statements and schedules record the revenue and receipts, expenses, assets, and liabilities 
that the Ministry manages on behalf of the Crown.

The Ministry administered:
• $0.945 billion of non-departmental revenue and receipts
• $1.610 billion of non-departmental payments
• $0.107 billion of non-departmental assets
• $0.109 billion of non-departmental liabilities

on behalf of the Crown for the year ended 30 June 2006.

Further details of the management of these Crown assets and liabilities are provided later in this report.

SCHEDULES AND STATEMENTS: CROWN
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Statement of Accounting Policies for the year ended 30 June 2006 

Measurement and recognition rules applied in the preparation of these non-departmental fi nancial statements and schedules 
are consistent with generally accepted accounting practice and Crown accounting policies.

Reporting entity

The fi nancial information for Crown: Vote Transport has been prepared by the Ministry of Transport and represents the public 
funds managed by the Ministry but correctly excluded from the Ministry’s fi nancial statements.

The Ministry’s responsibility is to manage the revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities on behalf of the Crown. The non-
departmental balances are consolidated into the Crown Financial Statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s fi nancial 
position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial 
Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006.

The fi nancial statements in respect of the activities administered by the Ministry of Transport on behalf of the Crown comprise:
• Collection of indirect tax revenues.
• Payment of refunds on claims received.
• Joint venture airports.

The fi nancial statements have been prepared pursuant to section 35 of the Public Finance Act 1989.

Measurement system

The general accounting systems recognised as appropriate for the measurement and reporting of results and fi nancial position 
on an historical cost basis have been followed.

Accounting policies

The following particular accounting policies which materially affect the measurement of fi nancial results and fi nancial position 
have been applied:

Budget fi gures

The Budget fi gures are those amended by the 2005/06 Supplementary Estimates.

Revenue
Revenue from Road User Charges and Motor Vehicle Licensing Fees is recognised when payment for the charge or fee is made.

Receivables and advances

Receivables and advances are recorded at estimated realisable value, after providing for doubtful and uncollectable debts.

Investments

Investments represent the Crown's investment in joint venture airports. Investments in the joint venture airports are valued 
at the lower of the original cost of the investment to the Crown and the Crown’s proportion of its holding of Taxpayers’ Funds 
for each entity.

Payables

Payables are recorded at the estimated obligation to pay.
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Financial instruments

Crown: Vote Transport is party to fi nancial instruments as part of its normal operations. These fi nancial instruments include 
cash and bank balances, and accounts receivable and accounts payable. Revenue and expenses in relation to all fi nancial 
instruments are recognised in the Schedule of Revenue and Receipts and Schedule of Expenses. All fi nancial instruments are 
recognised in the Schedule of Assets and Schedule of Liabilities.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The comparative information presented in the Schedule of Non-Departmental Expenses, Statement of Non-Departmental  
Expenditure and Appropriations, Statement of Non-Departmental Commitments (and related notes) and the National Land 
Transport Fund Statement distributions have been presented on a GST inclusive basis. This comparative information has not 
been restated to exclude GST, as approved appropriations for the 2005/06 fi nancial year were made on a GST inclusive basis, 
and any restatement of the comparative information would not refl ect those approved appropriations.

All other information presented in schedules, statements and notes are GST exclusive. The amount of GST owing to the 
Inland Revenue Department at balance date, being Output GST on Crown revenue only, is included in payables.

Commitments

Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that have been entered into at balance date are disclosed 
as commitments to the extent that they are equally unperformed obligations.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which the contingency is evident.

Changes in accounting policies

There have been no changes in accounting policies since the date of the last audited fi nancial statements.
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Schedule of Non-Departmental Revenue and Receipts for the year ended 30 June 2006

This Schedule summarises non-departmental revenues and receipts  that the Ministry collects on behalf of the Crown.  

 30/6/05  Notes 30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 893,062  Indirect taxation 1  919,621  985,024  944,711 
 26  Other 'Sovereign Power' revenue 2  67  10  10 
 12,802  Other operational revenue 3  13,751  10,500  10,500 
 –  Repayment of capital 4  11,639  –  10,000 

 905,890  Total non-departmental revenue and receipts  945,078  995,534  965,221 

Schedule of Non-Departmental Expenses for the year ended 30 June 2006

This Schedule summarises non-departmental expenses that the Ministry  administers on behalf of the Crown. Further details are 
provided in the Statement of  Non-Departmental Expenditure and Appropriations.

 30/6/05  Notes 30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 1,079,092  Non-departmental output classes 5   1,173,350   1,233,350   1,233,350 
 469,783  Purchase or development of capital assets 6   413,753   368,657   413,753 
 5,568  Other expenses to be incurred by the Crown 7   4,265   3,908   4,458 
 2,000 Land Transport Expenditure*   14,500   –   – 
 95 Bad debts expense   12,195   5,000   5,000 
 5,248 Movement in doubtful debts provision   (8,537)  –   – 

 1,561,786  Total non-departmental expenses  1,609,526  1,610,915  1,656,561 

* This is the change in the balance of the National Land Transport Fund payable to Land Transport New Zealand between 30 June 2005 and 30 June 2006.   

   

The accompanying policies and notes form part of these fi nancial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s fi nancial position and the results 

of its operations for the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006.
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Schedule of Non-Departmental Assets as at 30 June 2006

This Schedule summarises the assets that the Ministry administers on behalf of the Crown. 

 30/6/05  Notes 30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  Current assets    
 51,607  Cash and bank balances  37,575  60,874  77,046 
 63,234  Receivables and advances 8  63,973  38,712  58,234 
  Non-current assets    
 4,219  Investments in joint venture airports 9  5,362  4,219  6,062 

 109,677  Total non-departmental assets  106,910  103,805  141,342 

      

In addition, the Ministry monitors a number of Crown entities. These are:
• Aviation Security Service
• Civil Aviation Authority
• Land Transport New Zealand
• Maritime New Zealand
• Transit New Zealand
• Transport Accident Investigation Commission. 

The investment in these entities is recorded within the Crown fi nancial statements on a line-by-line basis. No disclosure is made 
in this schedule.      

 

Schedule of Non-Departmental Liabilities as at 30 June 2006

This Schedule summarises the liabilities that the Ministry administers on behalf of the Crown.

 30/6/05  Note 30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  Current liabilities    
 124,042  Payables 10  108,948  369,375  124,041 

 124,042  Total non-departmental liabilities  108,948  369,375  124,041 

  

The accompanying policies and notes form part of these fi nancial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s fi nancial position and the results 

of its operations for the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006.
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The accompanying policies and notes form part of these fi nancial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s fi nancial position and the results 

of its operations for the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006.

Statement of Non-Departmental Expenditure and Appropriations for the year ended 

30 June 2006

 This Statement details expenditure and capital payments incurred against appropriations. The Ministry administers these 
appropriations on behalf of the Crown.

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  Appropriations for non-departmental output expenses    
 53,000  Auckland Land Transport  50,667   50,667  50,667 
 4,714  Maritime Safety Regulation and monitoring  4,631  5,101  4,631 
  163  Maritime Security  145   145  145 
 1,981  Policy Advice: Civil Aviation  1,761  1,761  1,761 
 2,725  Reporting on Accident or Incident Investigations  2,617   2,617  2,617 
 2,705  Search and Rescue Class III   3,884   3,414  3,884 
 16,641  Weather Forecasts and Warnings  14,796   14,796  14,796 
 –  Wellington Land Transport  9,889   9,889  9,889 
 1,421  Licensing activities  2,099   2,099  2,099 
 –  Maintenance of local roads   162,180   162,180   162,180 
 –  Maintenance of state highways   181,260   181,260   181,260 
 –  Management of funding allocation system   64,000   64,000   64,000 
 –  New and improved local roads   235,820   295,820   295,820 
 –  Passenger transport   189,000   189,000   189,000 
 –  Promotion, information and education   31,676   31,676   31,676 
 –  Rail and sea freight   2,000   2,000   2,000 
 56,250  Regional Land Transport   201,000   201,000   201,000 
 – Regulatory enforcement  1,883   1,883  1,883 
 –  Research and performance monitoring   4,000   4,000   4,000 
 – Transport demand management and walking and cycling   10,042   10,042   10,042 
  2,813  Advisory Services – Transfund   –   –   – 
  10,744  Contract Management – Transfund   –   –   – 
  464  Driver Testing – Land Transport   –   –   – 
  236  Drug and Alcohol Assessments – Land Transport   –   –   – 
  31,500  Efficient Alternatives to Roading – Transfund   –   –   – 
  8,781  Grants Management – Land Transport   –   –   – 
  351,000  Maintenance and Expensed Road Construction 
      (local roads) – Transfund   –   –   – 
  391,500  Maintenance and Expensed Road Construction 
      (state highways) – Transfund   –   –   – 
  105,750  Passenger Transport Community Services – Transfund   –   –   – 
  13,160  Passenger Transport Social Services – Transfund   –   –   – 
  1,422  Policy Advice – Land Transport   –   –   – 
  1,598  Safety Audit – Land Transport   –   –   – 
  20,024  Safety Information and Promotion – Land Transport   –   –   – 
  500  Vehicle Impoundment – Land Transport   –   –   – 

  1,079,092  Subtotal   1,173,350   1,233,350   1,233,350 
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The accompanying policies and notes form part of these fi nancial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s fi nancial position and the results 

of its operations for the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006.

Statement of Non-Departmental Expenditure and Appropriations (continued)

  
 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  Appropriations for other expenses to be    
  incurred by the Crown    
 2,000 Contribution to local share of restoration  498 498 498
   following February 2004 event        
 568 International memberships  550  743  743
 3,000   New Zealand Railways Corporation  3,217   2,667  3,217   

  5,568  Subtotal   4,265   3,908   4,458 

  Appropriations for capital contributions to    
  other organisations    
 15,252  Aviation Security Services  10,000  10,000  10,000 
 252,658  Land Transport New Zealand   –   –   – 
  –  Maritime Safety Authority  1,300  1,300  1,300 
  –  Joint venture airports – annual  968   –  1,300 
  –  Joint venture airports – multi-year   174   –  543 

  267,910  Subtotal   12,442   11,300   13,143 

  Appropriations for purchase or development 
  of capital assets from the Crown    
 464,158  Roading capital improvements   –   –   – 
 5,625  Roading replacement   –   –   – 
  –  New and improved infrastructure for state highways   413,753   368,657   413,753 

  469,783  Subtotal   413,753   368,657   413,753 

  Total non-departmental expenditure     
 1,822,353  and appropriations   1,603,810   1,617,215   1,664,704 

  

Explanations of signifi cant variances between actual results and the Supplementary Estimates forecasts  are contained in the 
notes to these schedules.     
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The accompanying policies and notes form part of these fi nancial statements. For a full understanding of the Crown’s fi nancial position and the results 

of its operations for the period, reference should be made to the consolidated audited Crown Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006.

Statement of Non-Departmental Commitments as at 30 June 2006

This Statement records those expenditures to which the Crown is contractually committed and which will become liabilities 
if and when the terms of the contracts are met.

 30/6/05     30/6/06
 Actual     Actual
 $000     $000

  Operating commitments  
  1,247,776  Other non-cancellable contracts for the supply of goods and services*   1,358,544 

  1,247,776  Total operating commitments     1,358,544

  Capital commitments  
  379,957  Other capital commitments     721,040 

  379,957  Total capital commitments     721,040

 1,627,733  Total commitments     2,079,584 

  Term classification of commitments   
  1,614,705  Less than one year     2,079,584 
  13,028  More than one year but less than two years     – 
  –  More than two years     – 

  1,627,733  Total commitments     2,079,584 

    
* This item is for commitments to state-owned enterprises and Crown entities for the supply of outputs.  

Statement of Non-Departmental Contingent Liabilities as at 30 June 2006

This Statement discloses situations which exist at 30 June 2006, the  ultimate outcome of which is uncertain and will be 
confi rmed only on  the occurrence of one or more future events after the date of approval  of the fi nancial statements.

 30/6/05     30/6/06
 Actual     Actual
 $000     $000

  10,000   Transport Accident Investigation Commission emergency guarantee    10,000 
  2,066  Accumulated losses in joint venture airports     1,699 

  12,066       11,699 

Schedule of Unappropriated Expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2006

All non-departmental exenditure was incurred within appropriation during 2005/06  (2004/05: Expenditure incurred against 
the Non-Departmental output: Reporting  on Accident or Incident Investigations exceeded appropriation by $281,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 

Note 1: Indirect taxation    

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 217,216  Motor Vehicle Registration fees  220,818  219,422  221,420 
 712,915  Road User Charges  731,163  796,100  756,241 

 930,131  Subtotal  951,981  1,015,522  977,661 

  Less:   
  (37,069) Fuel Excise Duty refunds  (32,360) (30,498) (32,950)

  893,062  Total indirect taxation   919,621   985,024   944,711 

      

Note 2: Other ‘Sovereign Power’ revenue

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 26  Infringement fees  67  10  10 

 26  Total other ‘Sovereign Power’ revenue   67   10   10 

     

Note 3: Other operational revenue    

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

  12,802  Motor Vehicle Registration recoveries  13,751  10,500  10,500 

  12,802  Total other operational revenue  13,751   10,500   10,500 

      

Note 4: Capital receipts on behalf of the Crown       

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 – Repayment of capital from Crown entities  11,639  –  10,000 

  –  Total capital receipts on behalf of the Crown  11,639  –  10,000 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Note 5: Non-departmental output classes    

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 1,079,092  This expense item is equal to the appropriations for  1,173,350 1,233,350 1,233,350 
  non-departmental output classes listed in the Statement   
    of Non-Departmental Expenditure and Appropriations.        

  1,079,092  Total non-departmental output classes  1,173,350   1,233,350   1,233,350 

 

Note 6: Purchase or development of capital assets 

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 469,783 This expenditure is for the construction and improvement  413,753 368,657 413,753 
  of the state highway network; and pavement rehabilitation     
  (restoration of pavement strength) of the state highway    
  network, including seal widening.          

  469,783  Total purchase or development of capital assets   413,753   368,657   413,753 

Note 7: Other expenses to be incurred by the Crown    

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 2,000 Contribution to local share of restoration  498  498  498 
  following February 2004 event    
  568  International memberships  550 743  743
  3,000  New Zealand Railways Corporation  3,217 2,667  3,217

 5,568  Total other expenses to be incurred by the Crown  4,265   3,908   4,458 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Note 8: Receivables and advances    

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

   11  Sundry debtors   58   –   – 
  76,279  Motor Vehicle Registration fees   70,219  47,458  68,909 
  252  Prepayments  258  244  263 
  9,024  Road User Charges  7,234  8,094  11,394 

  85,566    77,769  55,796  80,566 
  Less:  
 (22,332) Provision for doubtful debts   (13,796)  (17,084)  (22,332)

  63,234  Total receivables and advances  63,973  38,712  58,234 

Note 9: Investments in joint venture airports 

 30/6/05   30/6/06 Latest Date of Latest
 Actual   Actual  Valuation  Valuation
 $000   $000 $000

  1,104  Hawke's Bay  1,104  7,722  30/06/05
  1,082  New Plymouth  1,082  8,467  30/06/05
  426  Taupo  426  1,363  30/06/05
  186  Wanganui*  992  869  30/06/05
  135  Westport*  472  (68) 30/06/05
  216  Whakatane  216  369  30/06/05
  1,070  Whangarei  1,070  1,448  30/06/05

  4,219  Total for joint venture airports  5,362  20,170  

 *The recorded investment value is higher than the valuation amount due to Crown capital injections made after 30 June 2005.

Note 10: Payables      

 30/6/05   30/6/06 30/6/06 30/6/06
 Actual   Actual Main Supplementary
     Estimates  Estimates
 $000   $000 $000 $000

 32,459 National Land Transport Fund revenue   46,958  291,469  32,625
   payable to Land Transport New Zealand   
 1,387 Output funding payable to Meteorological Service  1,387  1,221  1,221 
  –  International subscriptions  41  – – 
  169  Fuel Excise Duty refunds  –  169  169 
  9,753  GST payable Motor Vehicle Registration third party  8,113  9,677  9,752 
  78,192  Collections   51,873  64,808  77,843 
  2,082  Road User Charge refunds   576  2,031  2,431 

 124,042  Total payables   108,948  369,375  124,041
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Note 11: Major budget changes  

Changes were made to non-departmental revenue and receipts in the 2005/06 Supplementary Estimates. 

    Initial Budget Supplementary Cumulative
    Night Estimates Vote
    Estimates   
    $000 $000 $000

Tax Revenue   
Motor Vehicle Registration  219,422 1,998 221,420
Road User Charges   796,100 (39,859) 756,241
Fuel Excise Duty refunds  (30,498) (2,452) (32,950)

Capital Receipts   
Repayment of capital from Crown entities  – 10,000 10,000

Explanations for the changes are:

• Motor Vehicle Registration
Fees based on vehicle ownership; types of vehicles include cars, trucks, and trailers. The National Land Transport Fund 
Revenue Forecasting Group forecast a small increase in revenue during 2005/06. 

• Road User Charges 
Usage-based charges levied on operators of heavy trucks, and vehicles using fuels other than petrol, CNG and LPG. Forecast 
revenue from Road User Charges did not increase as much as initially predicted during the year largely due to slower growth 
in diesel consumption than originally anticipated. 

• Fuel Excise Duty refunds
Refunds of fuel excise duty for off-road usage. The National Land Transport Fund Revenue Forecasting Group forecast a 
small increase in the level of refunds during 2005/06.

• Repayment of capital from Crown entities
During 2005/06 the Aviation Security Service opted to repay $10,000,000 of the capital injection received during 2005/06.

Changes were made to non-departmental appropriations in the 2005/06 Supplementary Estimates.

    Initial Budget Supplementary Cumulative
    Night Estimates Vote
    Estimates   
    $000 $000 $000

Appropriations for non-departmental output expenses   
Maritime Safety Regulation and Monitoring  5,101 (470) 4,631
Search and Rescue Class III   3,414 470 3,884

Other expenses incurred by the Crown   
New Zealand Railways Corporation – public policy projects   2,667 550 3,217

Capital Expenditure   

Contributions to joint venture airports – annual  – 1,300 1,300
Contributions to joint venture airports – multi-year  – 543 543
New and improved infrastructure for state highways   368,657 45,096 413,753
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Explanations for the major changes were outlined in the 2005/06 Supplementary Estimates (pages 443 to 445). They were:

• Maritime Safety Regulation and Monitoring 
This appropriation is for provision of policy advice on maritime safety, development of safety standards, promotion and 
auditing of maritime safety, and the review of legislation. The decrease in this appropriation is due to a transfer of funding to 
Search and Rescue Class III.

• Search and Rescue Class III 
This appropriation is for purchase of a search and rescue coordination service, including follow-up inquiries and reporting, 
associated with Class III searches and rescues undertaken. The increase in this appropriation is due to a transfer of funding 
from Maritime Safety Regulation and Monitoring.

• New Zealand Railways Corporation – public policy projects 
This appropriation is for expenditure on public policy rail initiatives. The increase in this appropriation is for increased 
funding to assist heritage train operators and the rail heritage trust.

• Contributions to joint venture airports – annual
This appropriation was created to make capital injections to meet historical operating losses at Wanganui, Westport and 
Taupo airports to 30 June 2004.

• Contributions to joint venture airports – multi-year
This appropriation was created to provide capital for enhancements to airport terminals and runways and to cover the 
Crown’s share of operating losses for the year ended June 2005 and an estimate of the losses for the year ended June 2006.

• New and improved infrastructure for state highways
This appropriation is for purchase of state highways improvements as specifi ed in the National Land Transport Programme. 
The reason for the change in this appropriation is due to additional funding for land transport agreed by Cabinet in 2005, 
offset by a reduction in funding to refl ect the forecast of the National Land Transport Fund revenues.

Note 12: Major budget variations  

The signifi cant variances between actual results and the Supplementary Estimates forecasts were:

Schedule of Non-Departmental Revenue and Receipts:
• Indirect taxation was $25,090,000 lower than forecast. The decrease was attributable to revenue from Road User Charges 

being signifi cantly lower than estimated. 
• Other operational revenue was $3,251,000 higher than forecast due to Motor Vehicle Registration recoveries exceeding 

expectations. 
• Repayment of Crown capital was higher than forecast by $1,639,000 as the Aviation Security Service returned more funding 

than anticipated. 

Schedule of Non-Departmental Expenses:
• Non-departmental output expenses were $60,000,000 lower than forecast. Cash payments to outputs were reduced to 

refl ect lower revenue levels from Road User Charges and from Fuel Excise Duty.
• Land transport expenditure was $14,500,000 higher than forecast. This represents a movement in the balance of the 

National Land Transport Fund between 1 July 2005 and 30 June 2006.
• Bad debts expense was $7,195,000 higher than forecast due to the write-off of a backlog of unprocessed bad debt 

applications from previous years. The corresponding reduction in provision for doubtful debts resulted in the movement in 
doubtful debts provision being $8,537,000 lower than forecast.
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Schedule of Non-Departmental Assets:
• Cash and bank balances were $39,471,000 lower than forecast. This is due to a combination of higher receivables, lower 

payables and lower Road User Charges. 
• Receivables and advances were $5,739,000 higher than forecast due to the level of revenue collected by front counter 

agents and unpaid to the Transport Registry Centre at month end being higher than forecast.

Schedule of Non-Departmental Liabilities:
• The value recorded in the Main Estimates for payables was based on the level of payables forecast in 2005/06 for National 

Land Transport Programme activity. A change in timing of payment to Land Transport New Zealand required a reduction 
in the Supplementary Estimates forecast payables balance. Payables were $15,262,000 lower than the Supplementary 
Estimates forecast due to a lesser amount ($25,790,000) owing to the Accident Compensation Corporation from collection 
of third party revenue. The decrease in payables was offset by $15,720,000 more than expected owing to Land Transport 
New Zealand for National Land Transport Fund revenue.

Statement of Non-Departmental Expenditure and Appropriations:
• Cash payments to the new and improved local road appropriation were reduced by $60,000,000 to refl ect a lower level of 

Crown revenue and less cash available to the National Land Transport Fund. 

Note 13: Impact of adopting New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

The Ministry of Transport is in the process of transitioning its accounting policies and fi nancial reporting from current New Zealand 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP) to New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(NZ IFRS) which will be applicable for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2008. During the 2005/06 year, the Ministry allocated 
internal resources and engaged expert consultants to conduct impact assessments to identify key areas that would be impacted 
by the transition to NZ IFRS. As a result, the Ministry established a project team to address each of the areas in order of priority. 
Priority has been given to the preparation of an opening balance sheet in accordance with NZ IFRS as at 1 July 2006, as Treasury 
requires an NZ IFRS-compliant balance sheet from this date. This will form the basis of accounting under NZ IFRS in the future, 
and is required when the Ministry prepares its fi rst complete set of NZ IFRS-compliant fi nancial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2008.

The Ministry of Transport expects the adoption of NZ IFRS to have very little effect on the fi nancial statements.

The fi gures disclosed are management's best estimates of the quantitative impact of the changes as at the date of preparing 
the 30 June 2008 fi nancial statements. The actual effects of transition to NZ IFRS may differ from the estimates disclosed due 
to: (a) ongoing work being undertaken by the NZ IFRS project teams; (b) potential amendments to NZ IFRS and interpretations 
thereof being issued by the standard-setters and IFRIC; and (c) emerging accepted practice in the interpretation and 
application of NZ IFRS and interpretations.
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National Land Transport Fund Statement for the year ended 30 June 2006

The National Land Transport Fund pays for maintenance and construction of the roading network, and pays a contribution to 
public transport, traffi c enforcement, and road safety and education.

 30/6/05     30/6/06 
 Actual     Actual
 $million     $million

 7.0  Opening balance     9.2 

  Revenue 
  744.5  Road User Charges     757.6 
  646.8  Fuel Excise Duty     726.5 
  217.7  Motor Vehicle Registration fees     221.4 
  12.8  Motor vehicle: other     13.8 
  11.3  Other revenue     11.6 
  (0.1) Bad debt write-off     (3.7)

  1,633.0  Total revenue     1,727.2 

  Plus Government contribution
 203.9 GST compensation    –
  –  Contribution in lieu of interest     17.5 
  – For the construction and improvement of the state highway network    95.0 

  203.9  Total Government contribution     112.5 

  Less refunds 
  31.6  Road User Charge refunds     32.4 
  37.1  Fuel Excise Duty refunds     26.4 
  0.5  Motor Vehicle Registration refunds     0.5 

  69.1  Total refunds      59.3 

  Less distributions 
  1,464.2  Land Transport New Zealand for National Land Transport Programme    1,496.6 
  and Safety Administration Programme 
  235.1  New Zealand Police     208.8 
  66.3  Ministry of Transport     60.7 

  1,765.6  Total distributions     1,766.1 

  9.2  Closing balance     23.5 

The Ministry of Transport administers this Fund on behalf of the Crown.   

All Road User Charges and fees paid by motorists under the Transport  Act 1986 are paid into the National Land Transport Fund. 
The total excise duty  for CNG and LPG is also paid into the Fund. Petrol excise duty was paid into the  Fund at the rate of 22.492 
cents per litre up to 31 March 2006, and from 1 April 2006 at the rate of 23.200 cents per litre.  



80 Audit Report – Ministry of Transport Annual Report 05/06

AUDIT REPORT

To the readers of the Ministry of Transport’s Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the Ministry of Transport (the Ministry). The Auditor-General has appointed me, John 
O’Connell using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the fi nancial statements of the Ministry, 
on his behalf, for the year ended 30 June 2006. 

Unqualifi ed opinion

In our opinion the fi nancial statements of the Ministry on pages 32 to 79:

• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and
• fairly refl ect:

– the Ministry’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2006;
– the results of its operations and cash fl ows for the year ended on that date; 
– its standards of delivery performance achieved, as compared with the forecast standards outlined in the statement of 

forecast service performance adopted at the start of the fi nancial year and its actual revenue earned and output expenses 
incurred, as compared with the forecast revenues and output expenses outlined in the statement of forecast service 
performance adopted at the start of the fi nancial year; and 

– the schedules of non-departmental activities fairly refl ect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, contingencies and 
commitments managed by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown for the year ended 30 June 2006. 

The audit was completed on 27 September 2006 and is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Secretary for Transport and the 
Auditor, and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion

We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the New Zealand 
Auditing Standards.

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered necessary in order to obtain 
reasonable assurance that the fi nancial statements did not have material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error.

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall 
understanding of the fi nancial statements. If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have 
referred to them in our opinion.

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the fi nancial statements. We assessed the 
results of those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:
• determining whether signifi cant fi nancial and management controls are working and can be relied on to produce complete 

and accurate data;
• verifying samples of transactions and account balances;
• performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data;
• reviewing signifi cant estimates and judgements made by the Secretary for Transport;
• confi rming year-end balances;
• determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; and
• determining whether all fi nancial statement disclosures are adequate.
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We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the fi nancial statements or statement 
of service performance.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the fi nancial statements. We obtained all the 
information and explanations we required to support our opinion above.

Responsibilities of the Secretary for Transport and the Auditor

The Secretary for Transport is responsible for preparing fi nancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand. The fi nancial statements must fairly refl ect the fi nancial position of the Ministry as at 30 June 2006 and 
the results of its operations and cash fl ows for the year ended on that date. The statement of service performance must fairly 
refl ect, for each class of outputs, the Ministry’s standards of delivery performance achieved and revenue earned and expenses 
incurred, as compared with the forecast standards, revenue and expenses adopted at the start of the fi nancial year. In addition, 
the schedules of non-departmental activities must fairly refl ect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, contingencies and 
commitments managed by the Ministry on behalf of the Crown for the year ended 30 June 2006. The Secretary for Transport’s 
responsibilities arise from sections 45A, 45B and 45(1)(f) of the Public Finance Act 1989. 

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the fi nancial statements and reporting that opinion to you. 
This responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 45D(2) of the Public Finance Act 1989. 

Independence

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate the 
independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand.

In addition to the audit, we have conducted an assurance assignment in relation to the calculation of interest owing on the daily 
cash balance of the National Land Transport Fund for the period 1 July 2000 to 31 March 2006. 

This assignment is compatible with those independence requirements. Other than the audit and this assignment, we have 
no relationship with or interests in the Ministry.

John O’Connell
Audit New Zealand, On behalf of the Auditor-General, Wellington, New Zealand
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LEGAL RESPONSIBILITIES

The Ministry of Transport is charged with administering the Acts and Regulations listed below.

Legislation

• Air Facilitation Act 1993 
(provisions now deemed to part of the Immigration Act 1987 
administrated by the Department of Labour)

• Air Facilitation (Domestic Passengers and Cargo) Act 1994
• Airport Authorities Act 1966
• Auckland Airport Act 1987
• Auckland Harbour Bridge Authority Dissolution Act 1983
• Christchurch-Lyttelton Road Tunnel Authority Dissolution Act 1978
• Civil Aviation Act 1990
• Customs Law Act 1908
• Land Transport Act 1998
• Land Transport Management Act 2003
• Maritime Security Act 2004
• Maritime Transport Act 1994
• Meteorological Services Act 1990
• Ministry of Transport Act Repeal Act 1990
• New Zealand National Airways Corporation Dissolution Act 1978
• Port Companies Act 1998
• Railways Act 2005 
• Road User Charges Act 1977
• Ship Registration Act 1992
• Shipping Act 1987
• Shipping Corporation of New Zealand Act Repeal Act 1988
• Submarine Cables and Pipelines Protection Act 1996
• Taranaki Harbours Act 1965
• Transit New Zealand Act 1989
• Transport Accident Investigation Commission Act 1990
• Transport Act 1962
• Transport Services Licensing Act 1989
• Transport (Vehicle and Driver Registration and Licensing) Act 1986
• Waterfront Industry Restructuring Act 1989
• Wellington Airport Act 1990

Major statutory regulations

• Airport Authorities (Airport Companies Information Disclosure) 
Regulations 1999

• Carriage by Air (New Zealand Currency Equivalents) Notice (No. 2) 1998
• Civil Aviation (Aeronautical Information Service) Levies Order 2001
• Civil Aviation Charges Regulations (No. 2) 1991
• Civil Aviation (Offences) Regulations 1997
• Civil Aviation (Safety) Levies Order 2002
• Engine Drivers' Examination Regulations 1952
• Foreshore Licence Regulations 1960
• Heavy Vehicle Regulations 1974
• Land Transport (Approved Laboratory and Analyst in Charge) Notice 2000
• Land Transport (Certifi cation and Other Fees) Regulations 1999
• Land Transport (Driver Licensing and Driver Testing Fees) 

Regulations 1999
• Land Transport (Driver Licensing) Rule 1999
• Land Transport (Infringement and Reminder Notices) Regulations 1998
• Land Transport (Offences and Penalties) Regulations 1999
• Land Transport (Ordering a Vehicle off the Road) Notice 1999
• Land Transport (Requirements for Storage and Towage of Impounded 

Vehicles) Regulations 1999
• Land Transport (Road User) Rule 2004 
• Land Transport (Storage and Towage Fees for Impounded Vehicles) 

Regulations 1999

• Land Transport Management (Apportionment and Refund of Excise Duty 
and Excise-Equivalent Duty) Regulations 2004

• Land Transport Management (Road Tolling Scheme for ALPURT B2) 
Order 2005

• Marine Protection (Offences) Regulations 1998
• Marine Safety Charges Regulations 2000
• Maritime (Offences) Regulations 1998
• Maritime Security Regulations 2004
• Maritime Security (Designated Authority) Order 2004
• Maritime Security (Maritime Security Organisations) Order 2004
• Maritime Transport Act (Conventions) Order 1994
• Maritime Transport (Certifi cates of Insurance) Regulations 2005 
• Maritime Transport (Fund Convention) Levies Order 1996
• Maritime Transport (Infringement Fees for Offences Relating to Major 

Maritime Events) Regulations 1999 
• Maritime Transport (Marine Protection Conventions) Order 1999
• Maritime Transport (Maximum Amounts of Liability for Pollution Damage) 

Order 2003
• Notice of Direction to Require Screening 2002
• Oil Pollution Levies Order 1998
• Passenger Service Vehicle Construction Regulations 1978
• Road User Charges (Rates) Order 1996
• Road User Charges Regulations 1978
• Ship Registration (Fees) Regulations 1992
• Shipping (Charges) Regulations 2000
• Submarine Cables and Pipelines Protection Order 1992
• Traffi c Regulations 1976
• Transport (Breath Tests) Notice 1989 (No. 2)
• Transport (Change of Ownership) Regulations 1995
• Transport (Towage Fees) Notice 2004
• Transport (Vehicle Registration and Licensing) Regulations 1994 
• Transport Services Licensing Regulations 1989

Legislation changes

The following Acts were made during the 2005/06 year:
• Civil Aviation Amendment Act 2005
• Maritime Transport Amendment Act 2005 (No. 2)
• Ship Registration Amendment Act 2005
• Amendments to the Land Transport Act 1998 via Local Government 

Law Reform Bill 2006 

The following Regulations were passed during the 2005/06 year:
• Airport Authorities (Auckland City Council) Order 2006
• Airport Authorities (Omarama Airfi eld Limited) Order 2006
• Civil Aviation Amendment Act 2004 Commencement Order 2006
• Civil Aviation Charges Amendment Regulations 2006
• Dunedin International Airport Bylaws Approval Order 2005
• Land Transport Amendment Act Commencement Order 2005
• Land Transport (Offences and Penalties) Amendment Regulations 

(No. 3) 2005
• Land Transport (Ordering a Vehicle off the Road) Amendment Notice 2005
• Land Transport Management (Apportionment and Refund of Excise Duty 

and Excise-Equivalent Duty) Amendment Regulations 2006
• Land Transport Management (Road Tolling Scheme for Tauranga–

Mt Maunganui Harbour Link) Order 2005
• Marine Protection (Offences) Amendment Regulations 2005
• Marine Safety Charges Amendment Regulations 2005
• Road User Charges (Rates) Order 2006
• Submarine Cables and Pipelines Protection Order 2006
• Traffi c Amendment Regulations 2006 
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Rules

The Minister makes ordinary transport rules. Land Transport New Zealand, 
Maritime New Zealand and the Civil Aviation Authority administer these rules.

The following rules were made during the 2005/06 year:

Civil Aviation Omnibus Amendment Project

• Part 1 Amendment 31 – Defi nitions and Abbreviations
• Part 12 Amendment 2 – Accidents, Incidents and Statistics
• Part 19 Amendment 9 – Transition Rules
• Part 63 Amendment 2 – Flight Engineer Licences and Ratings
• Part 65 Amendment 2 – Air Traffi c Service Personnel Licences and Ratings
• Part 66 Amendment 2 – Air Maintenance Personnel Licensing
• Part 77 Amendment 2 – Objects and Activities Affecting Navigable Airspace
• Part 91 Amendment 14 – General Operating and Flight Rules
• Part 92 Amendment 2 – Carriage of Dangerous Goods
• Part 101 Amendment 2 – Gyrogliders and Parasails, and Unmanned 

Balloons, Kites, Rockets, and Model Aircraft – Operating Rules
• Part 103 Amendment 5 – Microlight Aircraft – Operating Rules
• Part 104 Amendment 4 – Gliders – Operating Rules
• Part 105 Amendment 3 – Parachuting – Operating Rules
• Part 119 Amendment 6 – Air Operator – Certifi cation
• Part 121 Amendment 13 – Air Operations – Large Aeroplanes
• Part 125 Amendment 8 – Air Operations – Medium Aeroplanes
• Part 129 Amendment 3 – Foreign Air Operator – Certifi cation
• Part 133 Amendment 1 – Helicopter External Load Operations
• Part 135 Amendment 13 – Air Operations – Helicopters and Small Aeroplanes
• Part 139 Amendment 4 – Aerodromes – Certifi cation, Operation and Use
• Part 140 Amendment 2 – Aviation Security Service Organisations – 

Certifi cation
• Part 171 Amendment 3 – Aviation Telecommunication Services – 

Operation and Certifi cation
• Part 172 Amendment 5 – Air Traffi c Service Organisations – Certifi cation
• Part 174 Amendment 2 – Aviation Meteorological Service Organisations – 

Certifi cation
• Part 175 Amendment 3 – Aeronautical Information Service Organisations 

– Certifi cation

HUMS Amendment

• Part 125 Air Operations – Medium Aeroplanes, Amendment 9 

Air Operator Security Programme

• Part 1 Amendment 29 – Defi nitions and Abbreviations
• Part 108 Amendment 4 – Air Operator Security Programme

Pilot licences and ratings (Stage 1)

• Part 1 Amendment 30 – Defi nitions and Abbreviations
• Part 19 Amendment 8 – Transition Rules
• Part 61 Reissue – Pilot Licences and Ratings
• Part 104 Amendment 3 – Gliders – Operating Rules
• Part 121 Amendment 12 – Air Operations – Large Aeroplanes
• Part 125  Amendment 7 – Air Operations – Medium Aeroplanes
• Part 135 Amendment 12 – Air Operations – Helicopters and Small Aeroplanes

Part 93 package (special Aerodrome traffi c rules and noise abatement 

procedures and ratings) 

• Part 71 Amendment 1 – Designation and Classifi cation of Airspace
• Part 91 Amendment 13 – General Operating and Flight Rules
• Part 93 Amendment 3 – Special Aerodrome Traffi c Rules and Noise 

Abatement Procedures

Part 67 – Medical Standards and Certifi cation

• Part 67 – Medical Standards and Certifi cation 
• Part 1 Amendment 28 – Defi nitions and Abbreviations

• Land Transport (Driver Licensing) Amendment Rule 2006
• Land Transport (Driver Licensing) Amendment Rule (No. 2) 2006
• Land Transport Rule: Frontal Impact Amendment 2005
• Land Transport Rule: Glazing, Windscreen Wipe and Wash, 

and Mirrors Amendment 2005
• Land Transport Rule: Heavy Vehicles Amendment 2005
• Land Transport (Road User) Amendment Rule 2005
• Land Transport Rule: Passenger Service Vehicles Amendment 2005
• Land Transport Rule: Seatbelts and Seatbelt Anchorages Amendment 2005
• Land Transport Rule: Setting of Speed Limits Amendment 2005
• Land Transport Rule: Traffi c Control Devices Amendment 2005
• Land Transport Rule: Tyres and Wheels Amendment 2005
• Land Transport Rule: Vehicle Dimensions and Mass Amendment 2005
• Land Transport Rule: Vehicle Equipment Amendment 2005
• Land Transport Rule: Vehicle Lighting Amendment 2005
• Land Transport Rule: Vehicle Standards Compliance Amendment 2005

• Maritime Rule: Part 24B Carriage of Cargoes – Stowage & Securing 
• Maritime Rule: Part 24D Carriage of Cargoes – Convention Containers
• Maritime Rule: Part 24E Carriage of Cargoes – Offshore Containers
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GLOSSARY

Transport and other organisations*

Air New Zealand

New Zealand's national airline, majority owned by the New Zealand 
Government.

Airways Corporation of New Zealand Ltd

Provides air traffi c management services, supplying the Ministry with 
Milford Sound/Piopiotahi Aerodrome landing and take-off data.

Aviation Security Service (Avsec)

Provides airport security, passenger and baggage screening.

Civil Aviation Authority (CAA)

Establishes and monitors civil aviation safety and security standards, carries 
out air accident and incident investigations, and promotes aviation safety.

Crown transport sector

Comprises the Crown entities that provide services for transport; Aviation 
Security Service, Civil Aviation Authority, Land Transport New Zealand, 
Maritime New Zealand, Transit New Zealand and Transport Accident 
Investigation Commission, as well as ONTRACK (a state-owned enterprise) 
and Road Safety Trust (a Crown-established trust).

Joint Offi cials' Group (JOG) 

A JOG is a joint committee of central and local government offi cials that 
considers how local and regional transport issues can be resolved and funded. 
Four JOGs have been completed in Auckland, Wellington, Bay of Plenty 
and Waikato.

Land Transport New Zealand (Land Transport NZ)

Allocates funding for the maintenance and development of state highways, 
local roads, passenger transport, traffi c demand management, rail, regional 
development, and the promotion of walking and cycling. It promotes land 
transport safety and regulates commercial land transport operators.

Maritime New Zealand (Maritime NZ)

Regulates the maritime industry, promotes safety, manages ship and port 
security, investigates accidents, provides navigational aids, undertakes 
marine pollution prevention and clean-up. Maritime NZ also operates the 
New Zealand Rescue Coordination Centre, the coordinator of Class 111 
search and rescue services throughout New Zealand and the South Pacifi c.

Meteorological Service of New Zealand Ltd

Provides public weather forecasting services and supplies the Civil Aviation 
Authority with meteorological information for international air navigation.

ONTRACK

Manages Crown railway land and the national rail network.

Road Safety Trust 

Provides funding for road safety projects and research from revenue 
of personalised vehicle registration plates sales.

Transit New Zealand (Transit NZ)

Operates New Zealand's state highway network, including maintenance, 
construction, safety and traffi c management. Transit NZ has responsibility for 
state highway strategies and design guidelines, economic and environmental 
planning for state highways, technical standards and quality assurance systems.

Transport Accident Investigation Commission (TAIC)

Investigates signifi cant air, maritime and rail accidents and incidents to 
determine their cause and circumstances with a view to avoiding similar 
occurrences in future.

Transport Sector Board Reference Group (BRG) 

Consists of a representative from each Crown entity board to provide strategic 
input into the Transport Sector Strategic Directions development process and 
to enable communication between the boards.

Transport Sector Planning Task Force (PTF)

Consisting of senior staff from the government transport sector, ONTRACK 
and representatives from regional local government, the task force was set 
up to establish a sector-wide alignment of strategic planning processes and 
implement the chosen system as a coordinated, collaborative activity involving 
all transport sector agencies.

*Relevant to Sections 1 and 2 of this Annual Report.
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Transport Acts, Bills, documents, 

regulations, rules, strategies and plans*

Acts of Parliament 

The New Zealand Parliament creates Acts by passing legislation. Proposed 
legislation enters Parliament as a Bill (see Bills before Parliament also).

Air Services Agreement

Agreements, negotiated by the Ministry of Transport, between New Zealand 
and other nations regarding access for national airlines to land and take off at 
each other's airports.

Bills before Parliament

The New Zealand Parliament receives proposed legislation in the form of a 
Bill. The Bill will be read in Parliament and, if accepted, be referred to a select 
committee for consideration. The select committee may consider submissions 
on the Bill and make amendments. The Bill in its amended form will be 
referred back to Parliament for two further readings. On the third and fi nal 
reading, if supported by a majority of parliamentarians, the Bill will be passed 
into law and become an Act of Parliament (see Acts of Parliament also).

Getting there – on foot, by cycle

New Zealand's fi rst national walking and cycling strategy, released in February 
2005, provides a comprehensive framework to address the factors that 
infl uence whether individuals choose to walk or cycle in their everyday lives. 

Land Transport Amendment Act (LTAA) 2005

The Act, passed in June 2005, includes various measures relating to land 
transport. It: updates the licensing regime for commercial drivers, including 
working hours and logbooks; targets serious and repeat drink-driving 
offenders; and updates and clarifi es other provisions including driver 
licensing, small motorised vehicles, and offences committed off-road.

National Environmental Standard for 
Land Transport Noise 

National standard that sets limits of noise levels produced by land transport, 
to protect public health and improve the quality of life in communities around 
major roads and railways.

National Rail Strategy (NRS)

The Government's rail strategy sets goals and priorities for the next ten years, 
including improving safety, upgrading the network, moving freight from road 
to rail where appropriate and increasing the use of rail for urban passenger 
transport, particularly in Auckland and Wellington.

New Zealand Transport Strategy (NZTS)

Released in December 2002, the NZTS outlines Government's vision for 
transport in New Zealand “By 2010 New Zealand will have an affordable, 
integrated, safe, responsive and sustainable transport system”, and describes 
how the transport system can respond to the social, economic 
and environmental needs of the nation. 

Rail Network Bill

This Bill aims to establish ONTRACK (the trading name for the New Zealand 
Railways Corporation) as the government agency with responsibility for owning, 
managing and operating the national rail network (including tracks, tunnels and 
bridges, but not stations), signalling and train control, access to the network and 
charges, rail land, property and leases and an approved safety system. 

Rail Safety Strategy

Improving rail safety is a key objective, with targets to be set to reduce injury 
and fatalities across the network amongst rail workers, pedestrians and 
motorists (in preparation). 

Railways Act 2005 

This Act sets the legal basis for an enhanced rail safety regime, providing 
clarity about the safety duties of all rail participants.

Regulations

The Governor-General makes regulations under the authority of Acts of 
Parliament. Regulations create offences, specify penalties, and prescribe fees 
and charges for transport (see Rules also).

Resource Management Act (RMA) review

Government-wide review involved the Ministry and Transit New Zealand 
working together to represent the transport sector and transport Crown entities.

Rules

The Minister of Transport or Minister for Transport Safety makes transport 
Rules. Rules are delegated legislation – laws that are not contained in an 
Act of Parliament, but made under the authority of the transport Acts (Civil 
Aviation Act 1990, Maritime Transport Act 1994 and Land Transport Act 
1998). Ordinary transport rules govern the construction and maintenance of 
vessels, vehicles and aircraft, their operation and the licensing of those who 
operate them (see Regulations also).

Surface Transport Costs and Charges Study (STCC)

The study provides baseline data on the costs and charges associated with the 
road and rail networks. It identifi es the costs road and rail users are paying at 
present, the costs road and rail impose on society as a whole and who, other 
than users, pays for land transport.

Transport Sector Review

Review resulted in changes to the structure and operation of the Crown 
transport sector, moving policy functions to the Ministry of Transport from 
Transfund NZ and the Land Transport Safety Authority, whose operational 
functions moved to new entity Land Transport New Zealand.

Transport Sector Strategic Directions (TSSD)

Document that sets out a sector-wide aligned strategic planning process 
for the Crown transport sector, and a strategic plan for three years (in 
preparation). The TSSD evaluates progress on the delivery of the NZTS, 
and sets priorities for the sector and how they will be achieved.

*Relevant to Sections 1 and 2 of this Annual Report.

86 



87 

DIRECTORY

Wellington

Novell House, 89 The Terrace
PO Box 3175
Wellington 6140

Telephone: 04 472 1253
Fax: 04 473 3697
Email:  info@transport.govt.nz
Website: www.transport.govt.nz

Alan Thompson
Secretary for Transport
Telephone: 04 439 9364
Mobile: 021 962 102
Email:  a.thompson@transport.govt.nz

Antoinette Wilcox
Executive Assistant to the Secretary for Transport
Telephone: 04 439 9363
Fax: 04 439 9006
Email:  a.wilcox@transport.govt.nz

Auckland

Level 6, Tower Centre
45 Queen Street
Auckland

Postal:
PO Box 106238
Auckland City
Auckland 1143

Telephone: 09 379 0070
Fax: 09 985 4849

Catherine Harland
Manager Auckland
Telephone: 09 985 4829
Mobile: 021 918 148
Email:  c.harland@transport.govt.nz

Christchurch

Level 7, Te Waipounamu House
158 Hereford Street
Christchurch

Postal:
PO Box 3014
Christchurch Mail Centre
Christchurch 8140

Telephone: 03 366 9304
Fax: 03 366 9317

David Corlett
Manager Christchurch
Telephone: 03 366 9307
Mobile: 021 918 155
Email:  d.corlett@transport.govt.nz
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